
CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
CITY HALL 

350 N MARKET BLVD | CHEHALIS, WA   98532 

Anthony E. Ketchum, Sr., District 3 
Mayor 

Jerry Lord, District 1 
Daryl J. Lund, District 2 
Dr. Isaac S. Pope, District 4      

Kate McDougall, Position at Large No. 1 
Kevin Carns, Position at Large No. 2 

Robert J. Spahr, Mayor Pro Tem, Position at Large No. 3 

Regular Meeting of Monday, October 23, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

To access this meeting via Zoom: 
Meeting ID: 834 4212 6653 

Pass Code: 674890 

1. Call to Order (Mayor Ketchum)

2. Pledge of Allegiance (Mayor Ketchum)

3. Approval of Agenda (Mayor Ketchum)

PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS 

4. Recognition of Councilor Lord

5. Swearing in of Fire Captains (Fire Chief)

6. Proclamation: First Responders Day (Mayor Ketchum)

 CONSENT CALENDAR ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

7. Minutes of the Regular Meeting September 25, 2023 (City Clerk)

8. Minutes of the Regular Meeting October 09, 2023 (City Clerk)

9. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $786,682.45 (Finance
Director) 

10. Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale (Airport Director)

11. Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Preconstruction Loan Application
for the Market Street Water Main Replacement Project (11th to 21st Street) (Water
Superintendent) 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

1 

5 

9 

11 

13 

 PUBLIC HEARINGS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

There is no public hearing to conduct. 



   UNFINISHED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

 NEW BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

12. Council Member Vacancy Process (City Clerk)

13. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B, Establishing Guidelines for Cost Recovery
of Fire Department Services (Fire Chief)

14. First and Final Reading of Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right of Way Dedication for NW
Arkansas Way (City Manager/City Attorney)

15. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1078-B, Authorizing Establishment of a Fund
Named LEOFF-1 OPEB Trust (or Reserve) Fund (Finance Director)

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

15 

21 

49 

57 

  ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

Administration Reports 

• City Manager Update
Q3 FY2023 Financial Report

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates (City Council) 

INFORMATION 
ONLY  63 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

• RCW: 42.30.110(1)(g) -Evaluate Qualifications of Applicant for Public Employment or Review Performance of
a Public Employee

THE CITY COUNCIL MAY ADD AND TAKE ACTION ON OTHER ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THIS AGENDA. 

NEXT REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS  
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2023- 5:00 P.M. 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 27, 2023 -5:00 P.M. 

NEXT SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS  
THURSDAY, OCTOBER 26, 2023-4:00 P.M.- DISCUSSION OF REVENUE OPTIONS FOR FY2024 

CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT) 

Individuals wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit comments by 4:00 
pm on the day of the meeting. All comments received will be acknowledged by the Mayor under Citizens Business of 
this meeting agenda.  Please use the following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  
If you do not have computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Kassi 
Mackie at 360-345-1042 or at kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Public comments will be limited to five (5) minutes per 
person. 

https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us


Chehalis City Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

September 25, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Spahr, Councilor Lund, Councilor McDougall, 
Councilor Carns, Councilor Lord, and Councilor Pope 

Council Absent: None 

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Kevin Nelson, City Attorney; Lance Bunker, Public Works 
Director; Riley Bunnell, Water Superintendent; Justin Phelps, Wastewater Superintendent; Lilly 
Wall, Parks, and Recreation Director; Chun Saul, Financial Director; Randy Kaut, Police Chief; 
Brandon Rakes, Airport Director; Cassie Frazier, Airport Administrative Assistant; Susan Stayner, 
Administrative Assistant to the City Manager; Madisen Lester, Court Administrator; Tyler 
Hampson, Court Clerk  

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 

1. Call to Order:
Mayor Ketchum called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance
Councilor Carns led the flag salute.

3. Approval of Agenda
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lund, to approve the agenda
as presented. Motion carried unanimously.

PRESENTATIONS 

4. Employee Introductions
Municipal Court Administrator Madisen Lester introduced Court Clerk Tyler Hampson.

5. Chehalis-Centralia Airport Master Plan Update (Airport Director)
Leah Whitfield and Justin Heid of Aviation Planning Group presented.

CONSENT CALENDAR 

6. Minutes of the Special City Council Meeting of September 11, 2023 (City Clerk)

7. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $663,869.95 (Finance Director)

8. Addition of the Community Development Director to the Salary Schedule (HR/Risk Manager)

9. Resolution No. 18-2023, Surplus Property-Police (City Clerk)

1



A motion was duly made and passed approving the remaining items on the Consent Calendar as 
though acted on individually.  

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

There were no public hearings to conduct. 

CITIZENS BUSINESS 
Ryan Barrett, Lewis County Manager, was present to introduce himself. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

10. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1074-B, Second Amendment to the 2023 Budget (Finance Director)

A motion was made by Councilor Lund, seconded by Councilor Pope to adopt Ordinance No. 1074-
B. The motion carried unanimously.

11. Second Reading of Resolution No. 17-2023, Authorizing the Purchase of Property to Dedicate as
Right-Of-Way to Achieve Code Compliant Right-Of-Way Width (City Manager and City Attorney)

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lund to adopt Resolution No.
17-2023 on second and final reading.  The motion carried unanimously.

NEW BUSINESS 

12. Lodging Tax Advisory Committee Recommendations for 2024 (Councilor Lord and Administrative
Assistant)
The Council deliberated on the amounts and dedication of funds to each entity and the justification
behind each.

Chip Duncan of the Veteran’s Museum provided a background on the applications received.

A motion was made by Councilor Lord, seconded by Councilor Carns to approve the funding
amounts, both individually and collectively of the Lodging Tax Advisory Committee for use of
lodging tax funds for 2024 as set forth in the agenda report; and approve the annual debt service
payment for the Recreation Park Improvement Project in the amount of $71,819.00; and approve
the additional $84,397.00 to be added to the LTAC Reserve account to be used in the future for
award funding in 2024.

An amendment to the motion was made by Councilor McDougall, seconded by Councilor Lund to
amend the amount awarded to the Lewis County Historical Museum to $45,000. The amendment
failed 4-3.

The main motion failed 3-3.

This item was referred to the Lodging Tax Advisory Committee to consider updated amounts.

2



13. Appointment of City Councilors to the Sewer Operating Board (Wastewater Superintendent)
Mayor Pro Tem Spahr and Councilor Pope are currently serving on the Sewer Operating Board.

Justin Phelps has met with Lewis County Sewer District #4 to discuss terms of the expired agreement
and will bring a final proposed contract to Council for consideration at an upcoming meeting.

No final action was taken.

14. Procurement of a Tracked Remote-Control Mower for the Chehalis-Centralia Airport (Airport
Director) 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lund to approve the 
procurement of the Tracked 60-inch R-60 RC Mower from Owen Equipment Company, the sole 
source supplier of RC Mower products in the State of Washington and authorize the City Manager 
to approve payment of the invoice from Owens Equipment in the amount of $78,859.41 which 
includes all freight and tax charges. The motion was carried with Mayor Ketchum opposing.  

ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

City Manager Update 
City Manager Anderson updated the Council on the Airport Master Plan event. 

Lance Bunker provided a brief update on the progress on the frontage improvement 
requirements in the South UGA.  

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates 
Councilor Lund commended the Fire Chief on moving forward with the volunteer firefighter program. 

Councilor McDougall reported attendance at the Flying Saucer Event. 

Councilor Carns commented on the ongoing graffiti concerns.  

Mayor Ketchum reported attendance at the Lewis County Shelter meeting, Lewis County Historical 
Museum meeting and attendance at the Honda Grant Opening Event.  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(c)-Sale/Lease of Real Estate 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the regular meeting and convened the executive session for 20 
minutes or until 6:40 p.m. 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the executive session and reconvened the regular meeting at 6:39 
p.m.

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 6:40 p.m. 

3



_____________________________ 
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

4



Chehalis City Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

October 09, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Spahr, Councilor Lund (virtual attendance), Councilor 
McDougall, Councilor Carns, and Councilor Lord. 

Council Absent: Councilor Pope 

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Susan Stayner, Administrative Assistant; Kassi Mackie, City 
Clerk; Lance Bunker, Public Works Director; Riley Bunnell, Water Superintendent; Fritz Bierle, 
Streets Superintendent; Celest Wilder, Engineering Tech III; Chun Saul, Financial Director; Justin 
Phelps, Wastewater Superintendent; Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief; Randy Kaut, Police Chief; Gina 
Copas, Fire Administrative Assistant; Sally Saxton, Financial Analyst 

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 

1. Call to Order:
Mayor Ketchum called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance
Councilor Lord led the flag salute.

3. Approval of Agenda
The agenda was amended to remove item #4 and add item #18, Policy Change to Municipal Code
12.04.080, Changes to Standards and 12.04.110 Requirements-Frontage Improvements.
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord, to approve the
agenda as amended. Motion carried unanimously.

PRESENTATIONS 

4. Employee Introductions

5. Proclamation: Fire Prevention Week (Mayor Ketchum)
Mayor Ketchum presented the proclamation for Fire Week to Fire Chief Adam Fulbright.

6. Exceptional Service Award (Fire Chief)
Fire Chief Adam Fulbright presented the award for exceptional service to Adam Miller, Firefighter.

7. Port of Chehalis Update (Lindsey Senter)
Lindsey Senter of the Port of Chehalis provided a presentation on upcoming and past projects.

CONSENT CALENDAR 

8. Minutes of the Special City Council Meeting of September 18, 2023 (City Clerk)

5



9. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $580,564.67 (Finance Director) 
 
10. Vouchers and Transfers- Payroll in the Amount of $1,012,780.47 (Finance Director) 

 
11. Debt Management and Post-Issuance Compliance Update-FY2022  (Finance Director) 

 
12. Contract Award to Cole Electric for Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Panels (Facilities Manager) 

 
13. Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale (Airport Director) 

 
14. Consider Approval of Sales Tax to Previously Authorized Turbocompressor Purchase for Wastewater 

(Wastewater Superintendent) 
 

A motion was duly made and passed approving the items on the Consent Calendar as though acted 
on individually.  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
There were no public hearings to conduct.  

 
CITIZENS BUSINESS 
Bob Russell of Chehalis provided public comment.  
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
15. Lodging Tax Advisory Committee Recommendations for 2024 (Councilor Lord and Administrative 

Assistant) 
 
A motion was made by Councilor Lord, seconded by Councilor Carns to approve the original LTAC 
recommendation to approve the funding amounts, both individually and collectively, of the 
Lodging Tax Advisory Committee for use of lodging tax funds for 2024 as set forth in the agenda 
report; and approve the annual debt service payment for the Recreation Park Improvement 
Project in the amount of $71,819.00; and approve the additional $84,397.00 be added to the LTAC 
Reserve account to be used both LTAC Reserve account to be used in the future for award funding 
in 2024. The main motion failed 3-2.  

A motion was made by Councilor Carns, seconded by Councilor Lund to approve the annual debt 
service payment for the Recreation Park Improvement Project in the amount of $71,819.00. The 
motion carried unanimously.  
 
A motion was made by Councilor Lord, seconded by Councilor Carns to approve the funding 
amounts, both individually and collectively, of the Lodging Tax Advisory Committee for use of 
lodging tax funds for 2024 as set forth in the agenda report and approve the additional $84,397.00 
be added to the LTAC Reserve account to be used in the future for award funding in 2024.  The 
motion was carried with Councilor McDougall in opposition.  
 

 
 

6



NEW BUSINESS 
 
16. First and Final Reading of Resolution No. 19-2023, Waiving Competitive Bid Due to Special Market 

Conditions- Brush Engine (Fire Chief) 
Fire Chief Adam Fulbright presented.   

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord to waive council rules 
and approve Resolution No. 19-2023 on first and final reading due to the time constraints and 
market conditions and authorize the City Manager award the contract to Chelan Fire and Rescue, 
a responsible vendor in the amount not to exceed $120,000.00 which includes a budget 
amendment in the amount of $55,000 for 2023 for the purchase of a used brush engine. The 
motion carried unanimously.  

17. First and Final Reading of Ordinance No. 1075-B, Dedication of Right-of-Way, Arkansas Way (City 
Manager/City Attorney) 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord to waive the Council 
rules, and adopt Ordinance No. 1075-B, dedicating 3,695 square feet of real property purchased 
from HJP Investments, as Arkansas Way right-of-way on first and final reading. The motion carried 
unanimously.  

18. Consider Policy Change to Municipal Code 12.04.080, Changes to Standards and 12.04.110, 
Requirements-Frontage Improvements (City Manager) 
Engineering Tech II Celest Wilder presented.  

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord to approve the 
proposed policy changes and direct staff to draft an ordinance codifying the changes for City 
Council consideration on October 23. The motion was carried with Councilor Carns opposing.   

ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

City Manager Update 
City Manager Anderson acknowledged Celest Wilder for her work on multiple projects in the 
last few months, and Administrative Clerk Susan Stayner for her time with the City of Chehalis.  

 
Celest Wilder presented the Floodplain Management Planning Annual Progress Report.  

 
Councilor Reports/Committee Updates 
 Councilor Lord submitted his resignation effective the end of October.  
 

Councilor McDougall attended the Public Health and Social Services Advisory Board meeting and 
Economic Alliance Meeting.  

 
Mayor Ketchum attended the Twin Transit Board meeting, Discover Lewis County meeting, 
Downtown Rejuvenation Project presentations and the Lewis County Shelter meeting. 

 
 
 

7



ADJOURNMENT  
 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 7:15 p.m. 
 
_______________________________ 
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

8



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director  
Clare Roberts, Accounting Tech III 

MEETING OF: October 23, 2023 

SUBJECT: 2023 Vouchers and Transfers – Accounts Payable in the Amount of 
$786,682.45. 

ISSUE 

City Council approval is requested for 2023 Vouchers and Transfers dated October 13, 2023.  

DISCUSSION 

The October 13, 2023 Claim Vouchers have been reviewed by a committee of two councilors 
prior to the release of payments.  The administration is requesting City Council approval for Claim 
Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer Checks No. 3175 - 3209, 125  and Voucher Checks 
No. 137552 - 137649 in the amount of $787,593.72 dated October 13, 2023, and Voided Checks 
No. 130506 and 137525 for the net total of $786,682.45 as follows: 

• $ 242,236.28 from the General Fund
• $ 19,170.53 from the Street Fund
• $ 62,435.00 from the Transportation Benefit District Fund
• $ 1,845.75  from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund
• $ 492.97 from the Garbage Fund
• $ 175,426.43 from the Wastewater Fund
• $ 27,349.15 from the Water Fund
• $ 5,989.00 from the Storm & Surface Water Utility Fund
• $ 92,879.86 from the Airport Fund
• $ 93,062.76 from the Wastewater Capital Fund
• $ 5,781.76 from the Water Capital Fund
• $ 497.74 from the Stormwater Capital Fund

9



• $ 4,284.49 from the Custodial Court Fund 
• $ 56,142.00 from the Custodial Other Agency Fund 
• $ 787,593.72 Total Vouchers for October 13, 2023 
• $<911.27> Voided Checks for October 11, 2023 
• $ 786,682.45 Net Total Transfers 

 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds 
Transfer Checks No. . 3175 - 3209, 125  and Voucher Checks No. 137552 - 137649 in the amount 
of $787,593.72 dated October 13, 2023, and Voided Checks No. 130506 and 137525 for the net 
total of $786,682.45. 
 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer 
Checks No. . 3175 - 3209, 125  and Voucher Checks No. 137552 - 137649 in the amount of 
$787,593.72 dated October 13, 2023, and Voided Checks No. 130506 and 137525 for the net total 
of $786,682.45. 
 

10



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Brandon Rakes, Airport Director  

MEETING OF: October 23, 2023  

SUBJECT: Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale 

ISSUE 

The recent invoice from Epic Aviation, LLC, for purchasing and delivering AVGAS 100 LL fuel, has 
a total purchase of $60,326.48. The approved procurement policy for 2023 requires City Council 
approval of purchases over $40,000, even if they are budgeted.  

DISCUSSION 

Last year, the Chehalis-Centralia Airport successfully completed the installation of new above-
ground fuel storage tanks. The size of the new fuel system is twice that of the old system and 
can hold 12,000 gallons of fuel per tank. Due to this increase, the cost to fill these tanks will be 
greater than it was previously. 

The adopted procurement policy put in place in 2023 revised limits on authorized purchase 
amounts. The newly revised limits, combined with the increased price of fuel, and the increased 
quantity of fuel purchased at one time, have resulted in a single fuel purchase for resale 
exceeding normal administrative purchase limits.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The amount of this invoice totals $60,326.48. This has been budgeted for in the 2023 budget for 
the purchase of fuel for resale.  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council authorize the City Manager to approve payment of the 
invoice from Epic Aviation in the amount of $60,326.48.    

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council authorize the City Manager to approve payment of the invoice from 
Epic Aviation in the amount of $60,326.48.    

11



12



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Lance Bunker, Public Works Director/ Riley Bunnell, Water Superintendent 

MEETING OF: October 23, 2023  

SUBJECT: Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Preconstruction Loan Application for 
the Market Street Water Main Replacement Project (11th to 21st Street) 

ISSUE 

The S Market Blvd SW 11th to SW 21st water line is currently undersized and causing water capacity 
issues in the South UGA. The City is currently working to address this issue by upsizing the 8” water main 
from S Market Blvd SW 11th to 21st to a 16” water main to allow adequate flow capacity. 

DISCUSSION 

The Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) program is currently offering a Preconstruction loan 
opportunity with a maximum loan amount of $500,000 to help assist with projects like the Market 
Street Water Main Replacement. The loan has a zero (0) percent interest rate and a two (2) percent non-
refundable loan fee. If the loan application was approved by DWSRF the City of Chehalis could acquire a 
loan of $510,000 in total. The loan must be repaid over a ten-year period with loan repayments to start 
in October of the first year of loan contract execution.  

Due to the need to replace the S Market Blvd 11th to 21st water main for future growth in the South UGA 
this program will help to fund a portion of the costs associated with the project. The overall engineering, 
permitting, and administrative costs for the project are estimated to be $1,217,000.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Upon approval by the City Council, the City would obtain a $510,000 loan with a 0 percent interest rate 
that would be required to be paid back over the next 10 years. Therefore, the City’s Water Department 
would fund the $51,000 annual payment.  

Use of the DWSRF allows the City to borrow money for only the cost of the loan fee and preserve the 
Water Capital Reserve Fund, which is currently earning interest.   

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council authorize the submittal of the Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund (DWSRF) Preconstruction Loan Application in the amount of $510,000. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

13



I move that the City Council authorize the submittal of the DWSRF Loan Application and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the loan documents.  

14



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 
 
MEETING OF:  October 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Council Member Vacancy Process 
  
 
ISSUE 
 

Due to the resignation of Councilor Gerald Lord, effective November 6, 2023, the Chehalis City Council 
has one vacancy.  This report provides an opportunity for the City Council to discuss how it would like to 
fill the vacancy.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 

At the City Council meeting on October 9th Councilor Lord submitted his verbal resignation, which he has 
since provided in writing with an effective date of November 6, 2023. Councilor Lord’s membership on 
the City Council filled the District 1 position with a term that expires on December 31, 2023.  State statute 
provides that the vacancy be filled by an appointment by the remaining members of the governing body 
and that the person appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the unexpired term 
or the certified election of an individual at the next municipal election, which is scheduled for November 
2025.   
 
Eligibility to hold a position on the City Council is addressed in Chehalis Municipal Code 2.08.050, which 
requires that an individual has been a registered voter and resident of the city for at least one year. RCW 
42.12 includes additional provisions regarding the filling of vacancies of elected city officials, establishing 
that a vacancy on an elected nonpartisan governing body shall be filled by the remaining members of the 
governing body.  The City Council has ninety (90) days from the date of the vacancy to make an 
appointment. Ninety days from Monday, November 6, 2023 is Sunday, February 4, 2024. If an 
appointment does not occur by then, the City Council loses its authority to fill the seat.  According to 
RCW 42.12.070(4), the County’s legislative body would then have the authority to make the appointment 
within 180 days of the vacancy’s occurrence. 
 
PROPOSED PROCESS 
 
The process used to fill a vacancy in the recent past included an application process followed by 
interviews at a special meeting of the City Council.  It is proposed that the City Council consider using a 
similar process in filling the current vacancy.  The following timeline for filling the vacancy is proposed 
for City Council’s consideration: 
 
 

• Notice of vacancy published in official newspaper by:    Thursday, October 26 
• Applications due           Thursday, January 11 
• City Council conducts interviews at a Special meeting    Thursday, January 18 

15



o What is the preferred time: 4:00 p.m. or 5:00 p.m.? 
• New Councilmember sworn in at regular City Council meeting  Monday, January 22 

 
The above timeline would allow the City Council person elected to fill the seat currently held by Councilor 
Pope to vote on the appointment during the special meeting for interviews.  It also allows an extended 
time for interested individuals to apply, which could make it more convenient with the fast approaching 
Holiday season.  
 
A copy of the City Council District Map and a draft of an application for interested individuals to complete 
to be considered for the vacancy are attached for City Council review and comment. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 

If the proposed schedule is acceptable to the City Council, applications will be delivered to each City 
Council member for review prior to the special meeting proposed for Thursday, January 18, 2024.   The 
City Council has used the following process in previous candidate interviews and can follow the outline 
below or adjust it as desired.   
 

• Introduction of candidates. 
• Conduct interviews:   Each Council member would be able to ask each candidate a question. 
• City Council comments on the candidates, if desired. 
• City Council will convene into executive session to discuss qualifications of applicants. 
• Regular meeting reconvened. 
• Nominations from Council members.  If more than one candidate is nominated, a vote will be 

conducted in the order of which candidates were nominated.  Votes will continue until an 
individual receives a majority vote (4). 

 
The person selected to fill the vacancy would then be sworn into office at the City Council’s regular 
meeting of January 22, 2024.   
 
It should be noted that the City Council is not obligated to appoint a person based on this process and 
has discretion regarding how it selects a person to fill a vacancy.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 

There is no fiscal impact related to the filling of this City Council member vacancy. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is requested that the City Council review the proposed process for interviewing applicants and suggest 
changes as needed to provide direction to staff.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

City Council direction is being requested, so there is no suggested motion.  
 
 
 
 
 

16



DILLENBAUGH

CREEK

RI
VE

R

CREEK

SALZER

NEWAUKUM

CH
EH

AL
IS

RIVER

NEWAUKUM

RIVER

COAL

CREEK

5

5

NW River St

Ch
a s

e R
d

Til
l i c

um
Dr

NE Hampe Way

Salzer Valley Rd
State St

Leona Dr

SW
 20

th 
St

S W
1 9

th
S t

Roberts Dr

Rice Rd

Rib
eli

n R
d

S e
a rs

R d

Interstate  5

NW
 G

eo
rgi

a A
ve

Coal Creek Rd

Nancy  Ln

Nix
  L

n

Grove St

Bishop Rd

Exhibitor Rd

Lois Ln

Wo
od

lan
d  

 Av
e

Airport Rd

Fair St

NE Scott Johnson Rd

Christy Ln

Ro
os

ev
elt

 Av
e

K r
es

ky
Av

eS S
ilve

r S
t

Long
Rd

Sh
ore

y  
Rd

De
ve

ree
se

 Rd
 W

De
ve

ree
se

 R
d

Home Pl

Me
lha

rt  
Rd

Ha
be

in 
 R

d

Sturdevant Rd

Salsbury  Ave

Sundown Ct

Interstate Ave

Briarwood  Ct

Rain
ier 

 Ct

Alderwood Dr

SW
1 8

t h
S t

Alderwood Dr
Ln

Nic
ola

Ct

NW Brace St

NW Cedar Way

NW Shoreline Dr

NW
  F

lor
ida

  A
ve

NW
Lousiana

Ave

SE Evergreen Dr

SW 4th StSW 3rd St

SW 5th St

SW 6th St

SW 7th St

SW 9th StSW 8th St

SE Dobson Ct

SW Gails Ave

SW Snively Ave

SE
 16

th 
St

SW Pacific Ave

SW
 13

th 
St

SW 10th S
t

NW
Ar

izo
na

Av
e

No
rth

 En
d A

ve
NE Grove St

N
Na

tio
na

l A
ve

NE  Kresky 
 Rd

State St

Fair St

Union  St

Do
na

ho
e R

d S

Riverside Rd W

State   Route   6

Do
na

h o
e

Rd

S  
 Sc

he
ub

er 
   R

d

Cedar Ridge Dr

Sir
ius

 Pl
Veg

a P
l

Up
lan

d V
ist

a D
r Galaxie Rd

Sp
ring

bro
ok Dr Stan Hedwall Loop

Tune Rd

Sh
ore

y  
Rd

SW
H illburger Rd

SW
Rive

rsid
e D r

SW Sylvenus  St

SW
 N

ew
au

ku
m 

Av
e

SW
   P

ark
lan

d D
r

SW Cordoba Dr

SW
  2

1s
t S

t
Sprin

g S
tS  Market Blvd

SW  Grandview Ave

SW
20

th
S t

SW
 M

oo
nli

gh
t L

n

Kimberly  Ct

Ruzicka  Dr

Bis
ho

p R
d

SW Salsbury Ave

SW
  2

2n
d S

t

Ric
e  

Rd

SW Johnson Ave
SW Kelly Ave

Jared Ln

Elloway

Oaks D
r

SW Olympic Dr

SW  Thomsen Ave

SW Interstate Ave

SW  Hubbard

SW Wilson Ave

SW
  1

4th
 S

t

SW
  1

5th
 S

t

SW
  1

6th
 S

t

SW Mills AveS
W 

17
th St

SE   Adams Ave

SE
Au

st
Ma

nor Dr SE Prospec t St

SE
 G

ree
nw

oo
d D

r

SE
W

e s ts i d e DrSE Woodland Ave

Ste
rlin

g H
ts

SE Summit Rd

SE Canyon Dr

SE Hilltop Dr

SE Monroe Ave

SE Park Hill Dr

SE Carlesta     Ave

SE V all
ey

Vi e
w

W
y

SE Valley  View Wy

SW 10th St

SW 12th St
SW 11th S

t
SE 11th

SE  12th St

SW 13th St

SW     Pacific      Ave

SW     William     Ave
SW   McFadden   Ave

S   Market   Blvd SE   9
thSE   8th

SE 6th

SE Washington Ave

SW   John St

SW  Chehalis  Ave

SE Adams Ave

SE 4th
SE 3rdSE 2nd

SE Washington Ave

SW Henderson Way
SW  William  Ave

SW 2nd S
t

SW Scott  Pl

SW 1st
  St

NE Terrace   Rd

SE 1st
E Main St

NW Pacific Ave
NE Washington Ave

Phillips  Ct

SW State Ave

NW  Park  St

NW  Railroad  Ave

NW  Center St

NW     North    St

NW Prindle   St

NW
  F

ron
t  S

t

NE Adams   Ave

SE Winch
ester Hill  D

r

NE
  F

ran
kli

n  
Av

e

N 
 N

ati
on

al 
 Av

e

NE Boist
fort

N Market Blvd

NE     Adams Ave

NE Divis
ion

 St

NE Jefferson AveNE Hillside Dr

W Main St

NW  Cascade  Ave

Scho
ol S

t

SW   Cascade   Ave

Divis
ion

 St

Hood Pl

NW   Folsom St

Ne
w 

Yo
rk 

Av
e

NW   Vine    St

NW Prindle St

Or
eg

on
   W

y

NW
    

Qu
inc

y  
  P

l

NW Middle St
NW Lafayette  St

NW Geary St

NW   Sitka St

NW Airport Rd

Taylor Way

Commerce Way

NW Chamber of

Commerce Way

NW  Chamber  of

NW
Sta

te
Ave

NW
Lo

uis
ian

a
Av

eNW
  A

irp
ort

  R
d

Median St

NE Alaskan Way

Debra Ln
Sk yL n

NE
K r

es
ky

Rd

Pa
cif

ic 
 Av

e

Gr
an

d  
Av

e

Floral St

S
Go

ld
St

Alv
ord

  R
d

S  
To

we
r  A

ve

South  St

Ce
ntr

a li
a

Av
e

Eloah Way

Scheuber Rd S

Creekside Ln

Woodland Cir

SW
 17

th 
St SW Fair Ave

Armstrong 
Ct

SE Cypress Ave
SE  Magnolia Dr
SE  Maple Dr
SE Oakview DrSE

 Fa
irv

iew
 Av

e

SE     
Crestvi

ew Dr

SE
Prospect St

SE
 Ke

nw
oo

d  
  D

r

SW  James St
SW  Lewis St

SW Alfred St

NW
  Pacific Ave

NW
  Chehalis Ave

NE Highland Pl

Fair Oaks Te r

Greenwo od Ter

NE Scenic Way

NE Quarry Ter
NE High St

NE Mountain Way
Gle n

R d

NE  Summit Rd

S W
Saunders

Dr

Ne N
orth

NE Park

NW    Gertrude St

Hawthorne Pl
Duffy     St

NW St Helens Ave

NW
Lake St

NE   Cascade      Ave

NW
 P

en
ns

ylv
an

ia 
Av

e

NW
 O

hio
 Av

e

NW
  M

ary
lan

d  
Av

e

NW    West   St

Nix  Ln

Alvord  Rd

Farmview Dr

SE Hillsda le Ln

 NW   Calif. St

NW   Wrangle St

NW
 R

ho
de

 Is
lan

d P
l

NW
 R

ho
de

 Is
an

d P
l

NW
 S

tat
e A

ve
NW

  S
tat

e  
Av

e

Nix
    

Ro
ad

SW Pacific Ct

E Van  Buren  St

W Van Buren St

SW Veterans Wy

SW Elzina St

Shorey Rd

De
ve

ree
se

 R
d

Ca
pe

lla
 Pl

Ge
mi

ni 
Pl

Or
ion

 Pl

Po
lar

is 
Pl

Highway 603

 Walnutgrove Ln

Symonds Rd

Myrtle View Ln

Liberty Pl

W Main St

NW
  Quincy   Ave

Kennicott Rd

SW Ripple Ct

Wallace Rd

My O
wn Ln

NW Arkansas Way

NW
Lo

uis
ian

a A
ve

Shorey View Ln

Re
es

e L
n

Peters
on Rd

Rib
eli

n R
d

 O:\maps\cities-towns\chehalis\Chehalis_CouncilDist2017.mxd

District 1
District 2
District 3
District 40 1,750 3,500

Feet

Date: 08/31/2017

Chehalis City Council Districts
Lewis County, Washington

17



18



City of Chehalis 
Application for City Council 

District #1 Position 
(Two-Year Term: January 2024 – December 2025) 

 
Applications are due by 5:00 PM Thursday, January 11, 2024 

 

Name:              

Physical Address:             

Mailing Address:             

Home Phone:     Cell Phone:       

Email:              

Years lived in the City of Chehalis:          

Have you been a registered voter in the City of Chehalis for at least a year?       

Current Employer:             

Please answer the following questions using the area provided or on a separate piece 
of paper or digital document.   

1) Why are you interested in serving as a member of the City Council?    

             

              

2) What is your understanding of the role and responsibilities of a City Councilor?   

             

             

              

3) What do you think are the strengths of the City?      

             

              

19



________________________________________________________________________ 

 

4) How do you think the City can improve?        

             

              

________________________________________________________________________ 

5) Please describe your qualifications and experience that have prepared you for service 

as a City Councilor:            

             

             

       _______________________ _____ 

             

              

________________________________________________________________________ 

  

Thank you for applying to be considered to serve as a City Councilor for the City of 
Chehalis. Applications will be accepted in person, by mail, or via email at 
kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk’s Office 
at Chehalis City Hall no later than 5:00 PM on Thursday, January 11, 2024.  The City 
Clerk’s office can be reached by phone at 360-345-1042, ext. 201 and is located at City 
Hall, 350 N. Market Street, Chehalis, WA 98532. The City Council will conduct interviews 
at a special meeting on_____________  

 

Reminder: 

All applications must be received by  

5:00 PM on Thursday, January 11, 2024, to be considered. 

20

mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us


CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief 
 
MEETING OF: October 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:   First Reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B, Establishing Guidelines for Cost 

Recovery of Fire Department Services. 
 
 
ISSUE 
         
State legislation provides the City Council the authority to establish a program that would 
enable Chehalis Fire Department to recover costs associated with emergency response by 
billing responsible third parties, primarily insurance companies.   
 
EMERGENCY SERVICE COST RECOVERY 
 
For decades the Fire Department has responded to many incidents that have been caused by 
third parties that are residents and non-residents of the City of Chehalis.  The City has provided 
these services at zero cost to the third parties that caused the incident without seeking 
recovery for these costs. These services include the provisions of suppression, motor vehicle 
accidents, hazardous material and technical recue services. 
 
For years the City has absorbed these costs because legislation did not provide a means to 
recover the cost and third-party caused incidents were relatively low. As third-party incidents 
have increased substantially, staff is recommending adoption of a cost recovery program within 
the Chehalis Municipal Code. The proposed ordinance is presented for first reading to establish 
a method for recovering costs and expenses for certain services provided by the City’s Fire 
Department. 
 
THIRD PARTIES 
 
The definition of a third party is:  
 
“Any individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, commercial entity, consortium, 
joint venture, government entity, or other legal entity that (1) receives Emergency Services or 
whose employee or agent receives Emergency Services;(2) is contractually required to 
indemnify a person or legal entity for charges related to Emergency Services, such as an 
insurance company; (3) any owner, tenant occupant or party in control of real and personal 
property from which, onto which, or related to which there is an Emergency Incident and their 

21



heirs, estates, successors and assigns and (4) any owner, tenant occupant or party in control of 
real and personal property that benefits from Emergency Services and their heirs, estates, 
successors and assigns.”  
 
COST RECOVERY CHARGES 
 
If the proposed ordinance is approved, the City may be able to recover all assessable costs in 
connection with emergency services rendered by the City from any or all responsible parties 
jointly or severally. Emergency Services include, the following responses or conditions, but not 
limited to: 
  

• Any Department response to a fire, whether ignited accidentally or intentionally, and  
        includes but is not necessarily limited to the following: 

 
A. Department containment and/or suppression of the fire in part or whole 

            Stabilization of the incident by Department resources 
 

B. Activities resulting in damage or destruction of Department equipment 
beyond normal wear and tear. 
 

C. Any Department response to an incident caused by a criminal act including 
but not limited to, DUI, intentional false alarm, or arson. 
 

D. Any Department response requiring containment, abatements, or any safety 
measure in connection with any hazardous or toxic material release. Charges 
in such case shall be made to the person responsible for the release, whether 
the release occurs on the property of the responsible party. The 
responsibility for the release includes releases caused by the person as well 
as any release from any vehicle, building, or other instrumentality, owned, 
occupied, or utilized by the person, regardless of fault. 
 

E. Any Department response to a vehicle accident or traffic incident, including 
but not limited to the control of fires, spills, debris clean up, assistance to 
injured persons or ambulance crews, or the extrication of vehicle occupants 
using specialized tools or techniques. 
 

F. Any Department response for a Hazardous Materials Incident or other 
hazardous condition requiring Department oversight and deployment of 
personnel and/or equipment to maintain public health and safety. 
 

G. Any Department response to a false alarm due to system malfunction or 
maintenance issue in excess of three (3) alarms in any consecutive twelve 
(12) month period. 
 

H. The provision of Department equipment or personnel for the purpose of 
providing standby fire, rescue, or emergency medical services necessary to 
support a non- emergency event/situation hosted by a for-profit 

22



organization. The Fire Chief and or City Manager may reduce or waive any 
charges for such services. 
 

I. The providing of medical care and/or transport by the Department to a 
medical care facility. 
 

J. Any Department response for a specialized rescue, disentanglement, or body 
recovery requiring Department oversight and/or deployment of Department 
personnel or equipment and the use of specialized tools, apparatus, or 
techniques for handling the specific incident. This includes high and low 
angle environments, confined spaces, below grade or trench incidents, heavy 
equipment or machinery, outside searches lasting longer than one (1) hour, 
ice or water rescue or recovery, and structural collapse. 

 
A schedule of charges, to be known as the Cost Recovery Schedule, is included in the proposed 
Ordinance.  
 
EXEMPTIONS 
 
The following properties and services are exempt from charges authorized by the ordinance. 
 
• False alarms due to system malfunctions or maintenance issues not exceeding three  
     (3) alarms in any consecutive twelve (12) month period. 

 

• Fire involving City buildings, grounds and/or property when the fire is not caused by  
      the act or omission of an employee or agent of the City. 

 

• Fire or other emergency service performed outside the jurisdiction of the City for which a 
signed Mutual or Automatic Aid Agreement is in place, unless the municipality in which 
assistance is rendered has adopted an ordinance to impose or authorize the collection of 
fees for fire and emergency services as authorized by law.  

 
PROPOSED COST RECOVERY RATE SCHEDULE 

Preparedness fee         $250.00 

• 20-minute response minimum (round up to one hour for cleaning and restocking) 

• Hourly rates represent full-time employee cost of compensation / additional 
consideration given to call back of personnel to back fill on overtime rates. 

Full Time personnel: Hourly rate charge in 30-minute blocks 

Fire Chief           $68.00 

Captain            $44.00 

Firefighter/Driver/EMT        $37.00 

Call personnel: 

23



Company Officer          $67.00 

Firefighter/ Driver / EMT        $55.00 

Apparatus: 

Command Vehicles: 

Chief             $50.00 

EMS Units: 

A-48             $66.00 

Platform Aerial: 

Ladder 48            $208.00 

Structural Engine: 

Engine 48-1, 48-2, 48-3, 48-4       $133.00 

Jaws of Life            $50.00 

Consumables 

K-12 Cutting Disk           $10.00  

Plug-N-Dike            $10.00  

Gloves              $3.00  

Amerizorb T&G            $18.00  

Road Flares             $4.00  

Firefighting Foam           $92.00  

FM 186-2             $15.00  

Lewis County Dispatch Charge         $50.00  

Absorbent pads/tubes         $15.00 

 

BILLING AND COLLECTION OF ASSESSABLE COST 
 

If the City Council adopts the proposed ordinance, it is recommended the City Council authorize 
the City Manager to enter into an agreement with EF Recovery to administer the process 
needed to bill insurance companies and document services related to emergency response. 
 
EF Recovery will prepare and mail an itemized invoice to an appropriate insurance company or 
authorized agent acting on behalf of a responsible party or an insurer of a responsible party.  
 
As indicated on Page 9 of the agreement Billing options will be set as follows.  

24



 
1. Residents of Chehalis: Bill insurance company, if not paid, close claim. 
2. Non-Resident: Bill insurance company, if not paid, close claim. 

 
 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 
Non-resident responsible parties who receive an invoice for assessable cost shall have an 
opportunity to meet with the City Fire Chief or designee to request a modification of the 
assessable cost. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Cost recovery agreement discuss fees on page 10 Exhibit B. However, the actual fiscal impact on 
the city will be none for the following reasons: 
 

1. Processing Cost: Ef recovery has the authority to submit on their own behalf the 
processing fees at $50.00 or 22% of the total claim to the Insurance company. 
Therefore, they will not need to bill the City of Chehalis for processing fees. 
 

2. Uncollected Claim Cost: Ef Recovery agreed to waive this fee. 
 

 
3. Training Fee: One time Charge of $295.00 is taken out of the first claim submitted 

by Chehalis Fire.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council: 
 
1) Approve Ordinance No. 1071-B on first reading, establishing a cost recovery program and 

setting a fee schedule and conduct the second and final reading at the November 13, 2023, 
City Council Meeting; and 
 

2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the related documents, including an agreement 
with EF Recovery contingent upon the final approval of Ordinance #1071-B on second 
reading. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council: 
 
1) Approve Ordinance No. 1071-B on first reading, establishing a cost recovery program and 

setting a fee schedule and conduct the second and final reading at the November 13, 2023, 
City Council Meeting; and 
 

25



2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the related documents, including an agreement 
with EF Recovery contingent upon the final approval of Ordinance #1071-B on second 
reading. 

 

26



    ORDINANCE 1071-B 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON ESTABLISHING A NEW 
SECTION OF THE CHEHALIS MUNICIPAL CODE, 2.30.055, IMPLEMENTING A 

PROGRAM TO CHARGE MITIGATION RATES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF 
EMERGENCY AND NON-EMERGENCY SERVICES BY THE FIRE DEPARTMENT  

 

WHEREAS, the emergency and non-emergency services response activity to incidents continues 

to increase each year in the form of Environmental Protection requirements involving equipment 

and training, and Homeland Security regulations involving equipment and training, all which 

create additional demands on all operational aspects of the fire department services; and 

 

WHEREAS, the fire department has investigated different methods to maintain a high level of 

quality of emergency and non-emergency service capability throughout times of constantly 

increasing service demands, where maintaining an effective response by the fire department 

decreases the costs of incidents to insurance carriers, businesses, and individuals through timely 

and effective management of emergency situations, saving lives and reducing property and 

environmental damages; and 

 

WHEREAS, raising real property tax to meet the increase in service demands would not be fair 

when the costs are more properly bourn by the uses and their insurers; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Chehalis desires to implement a fair and equitable procedure by 

which to collect said mitigation rates and shall establish a billing system in accordance with 

applicable laws, regulations and guidelines; 

 

 

 

27



NOW THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1: A new section of the Chehalis Municipal Code (“CMC”), Section 2.30.055 is hereby 

created.  

 

Section 2: CMC 2.30.055 shall be captioned “Mitigation Rates Charged to End Users”. 

 

Section 3: CMC 2.30.055 shall read as follows: 

A. End-users may be charged mitigation rates for the delivery of emergency and non-

emergency services by the Chehalis Fire Department. “Services” for the purposes of this 

section shall include the actual rendering of service and any request whether or not services 

are actually required.  

B. The mitigation rates shall be based on actual costs of the services and that which is usual, 

customary, and reasonable (URC), which may include any services, personnel, supplies, 

equipment, and baselines costs established from time to time and as ratified by the City 

Council by resolution. In the event that at least one calendar year passes without any update 

to rates, the rates will be automatically increased by three percent (3%) over the prior year’s 

rate, effective January 1.   

C. The most current mitigation rates shall be available for inspection during regular business 

hours at the main office of the Chehalis Fire Department. The rates shall be deemed 

available if they are available either in-person or if posted on the website for the City of 

Chehalis.  

D. Where reasonable, the Chehalis Fire Department will work with the end-user to bill an 

appropriate insurance carrier or third-party payor. 

E. Billing under this section may be by the Chehalis Fire Department, another City 

department, or by a third-party, as selected by the Chief of the Chehalis Fire Department 

or designee.  

28



F. Any end-user may request an appeal of any billing under this section to the Chief of the 

Chehalis Fire Department or designee.  

G. The Chief of the Chehalis Fire Department or designee shall the responsibility to 

recommend the waiver of fees under this section in the interest of fairness after reasonable 

consideration of the individual’s ability to pay and/or other factors deemed relevant after 

assessing the totality of the circumstances. All waiver of fees must be approved by the City 

Manager. 

Section 4: Exhibit A hereto shall constitute the initial rates contemplated by this Ordinance, 

and shall be made available at the Chehalis Fire Department and/or on the City’s website.   

 

Section 5: This Ordinance shall take effect five (5) days from the date of adoption and publication, 

or as permitted otherwise by law. 

 

PASSED this ___ day of October 2023 

 

______________________________ 

Anthony E. Ketchum, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 

Kassie Mackie, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT: 

 

_________________________ 

Kevin T. Nelson, City Attorney 

 

 

 

29



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

MITIGATION RATES 

BASED ON PER HOUR 

 

The mitigation rates below are average “cost recovery/billing levels”, and are typical for the 
incident responses listed, however, when claim is submitted, it will be itemized and based on the 

actual services provided. 

 

COST RECOVERY RATE SCHEDULE 

Preparedness fee 

$250.00, 20-minute response minimum (round up to one hour for cleaning and restocking) 

Hourly rates represent full-time employee cost of compensation / additional consideration 
given to call back of personnel to back fill on overtime rates. 

 

Full Time personnel: Hourly rate charge in 30-minute blocks 

Fire Chief         $68.00 

Captain         $44.00 

Firefighter/Driver/EMT       $37.00 

Call personnel: 

Company Officer        $67.00 

Firefighter/ Driver / EMT       $55.00 

Apparatus: 

Command Vehicles: 

Chief           $50.00 

EMS Units: 

A-48           $66.00 

30



Platform Aerial: 

Ladder 48 or comparable unit      $208.00 

Structural Engine: 

Engine 48-1, 48-2, 48-3, 48-4 or comparable unit    $133.00 

Jaws of Life          $50.00 

Consumables 

K-12 Cutting Disk         $10.00  

Plug-N-Dike         $10.00  

Gloves           $3.00  

Amerizorb T&G         $18.00  

Road Flares          $4.00  

Firefighting Foam         $92.00  

FM 186-2          $15.00  

Lewis County Dispatch Charge       $50.00  

Absorbent pads/tubes       $15.00 

Other items (per unit)        Actual Cost + 10% 

 

 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43

afulbright
Line

afulbright
Line



44



45



46



47



48



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Lance Bunker, Public Works Director/ Celest Wilder Engineering Technician III 

MEETING OF: October 23, 2023  

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right-of-way Dedication for NW Arkansas Way, West of the 
Northern Arkansas/Louisiana Round-a-bout. 

ISSUE 

A portion of Arkansas Way is currently undeveloped.  For master-planned development to continue in the 
Airport Commercial development area, completing the Arkansas Way loop to connect the southern and 
northern legs of NW Arkansas Way is paramount. 

A portion of the northern leg of NW Arkansas Way, west of the round-a-bout at NW Louisiana (Across 
from I-5 Toyota and Interstate Honda) is undersized for the purpose of creating a code compliant, 
commercial access roadway. 

DISCUSSION 

The City of Chehalis owns the 56.05-acre site to the north of the undersized right-of-way. A survey of the 
area necessary to create adequate right-of-way for development was conducted and certified by a 
licensed surveyor September 27, 2023. 

Dedicating this 24,205 square foot area of land currently a part of parcel number 021612001002, as NW 
Arkansas Way right-of-way, will provide for the opportunity to complete development of the NW Arkansas 
Way loop. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

A decrease in 0.56 acres of undeveloped real estate will have an indirect fiscal impact due to decreased 
land-owner acreage for the city. 

Direct fiscal impact will come in the form of filing and recording fees of approximately $500.00 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1076-B on first reading and conduct the 
second reading at the November 13, 2023, City Council meeting. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1076-B on first reading and conduct the second reading 
at the November 13, 2023, City Council meeting.  

49



 
 

50



ORDINANCE NO. 1076-B 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON,  
PROVIDING FOR THE DEDICATIO NOF A PROTION OF  

PARCEL NUMBER 021612001002. 
 

Whereas, the City of Chehalis is the owner of real property located at 3110 Airport Road, 
Chehalis, Washington. A 56.05-acre parcel of undeveloped land, recorded under tax parcel number 
021612001002. 
 

Whereas, the southern property line, running east to west at a bearing of N89o42’02”W  for a 
distance of 694.48 linear feet lies adjacent to undeveloped right-of-way slated for future improvement as 
the NW Arkansas Way, loop. 
 

Whereas, the undeveloped NW Arkansas Way right-of-way is currently under-sized at 42.6 feet 
wide for a distance of 694.48 linear feet. 
 

Whereas, a 24,205 square foot portion of tax parcel number 021612001002, owned by the City 
of Chehalis, has been surveyed for dedication as right-of-way for the purpose of creating a 78 foot wide 
right-of way intended future road development. 
 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section1: 
 

The legal descriptions of parcel number 02162001002 from which the land is dedicated found in 
Exhibit A and for the portion of right or way being dedicated is descried in Exhibit B with certified 
drawings as Exhibit C and summarizes as follows: 

• A portion of land, formerly part of parcel number 021612001002, west of Louisiana Avenue 
containing an area of 24,205 square feet or 0.65 acres shall be, and the same hereby is, 
dedicated. 

 
Section 2. 
 

This ordinance shall become effective only upon the date that Exhibit A, Exhibit B, and Exhibit C 
have been recorded with the Lewis County Auditor. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by its 
mayor this _____ day of _____, 2023 
 
        ____________________________ 
         Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 

51



______________________________ 
 City Clerk 
Approved as to Form and Content: 
 
 
____________________________ 
 City Attorney 

52



53



54



55



56



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
     
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director    
 
Meeting Date: October 23, 2023   
 
SUBJECT:   First Reading of Ordinance 1078-B, Authorizing Establishment of a Fund Named 

LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust (or Reserve) Fund 
 
 
ISSUE 
 
The Firemen’s Pension Fund was set up to take care of pensions for firefighters that were hired 
before the Law Enforcement Officers’ and Firefighters’ Retirement System Plan 1 (LEOFF 1) was 
started on March 1, 1970.  The obligations of the fund are to pay for the excess pension benefits 
of eligible retirees and/or survivors. As those obligations are nearing the end, it is proposed that 
the City Council approve an ordinance that would create a restricted fund for the purpose of 
paying the retiree medical benefits of eligible LEOFF 1 Firefighters and Police Officers that remain 
the responsibility of the City.  These are not new benefits and only apply to Firefighters and Police 
Officers that are Pre LEOFF or  LEOFF 1 Retirees. Current personnel are under the LEOFF 2 Retiree 
System.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Per the request of the city’s Firemen’s Pension Board, research into what actions the city can 
take to ensure that the excess funds in the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund (FPF) and the funds in 
the LEOFF 1 Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) Reserve Fund will only be used to pay for 
LEOFF 1 retiree medical benefits until there are no beneficiaries remaining to receive the medical 
benefits under LEOFF 1 system.   
 
Pursuant to RCW 41.26.040, the Firemen’s Pension Fund must pay the excess pension benefits 
for firefighters who were active on March 1, 1970, and later retired from the LEOFF 1 system. 
These members are entitled to pension benefits under either the FPF formular or the LEOFF 
formula, whichever is greater. The City currently has one retired firefighter and one eligible 
widow that receive this benefit. The city pays about $4,000 - $7,000 per year to cover these 
excess benefits.  
 
As of 12/31/2022, the FMP had $1,057,722 in the fund. In 2019, the city conducted an actuarial 
study and determined that the FPF had sufficient funds to pay all future excess pension benefits 
and can remain sustainable without any additional pension levy. 
 

57



Additionally, the excess funds can (permitted but not mandatory) be used to pay for medical 
benefits for firefighters that have retired from or are currently active on the LEOFF 1 system. This 
is found in RCW 41.26.150. The city currently has six LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees who are eligible 
to receive these medical benefits. The 2019 actuarial study provided that the city can use the 
excess funds up to $78,000 per year over the next ten years to pay for the LEOFF 1 firefighter 
retiree’s medical benefits. The city paid for firefighter retiree medical benefits out from the FMP 
over the years but starting in 2020 the LEOFF 1 firefighter retiree medical benefits are paid by 
the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund. 
 
In July 2019, SSB 5894 was passed authorizing cities and towns to continue imposing the pension 
levy to fund medical benefits under LEOFF 1 (both law enforcement officers and firefighters) and 
other municipal purposes until the municipality no longer has any LEOFF 1 retirees receiving 
medical benefits. The proceeds of the pension levy must first be expended for payment of 
medical benefits under LEOFF 1 prior to being used for any other municipal purposes. 
 
In 2020, the city created a LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund and began placing the pension levy into 
the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund to pay for the medical benefits for all LEOFF 1 retirees and to 
build reserves for LEOFF1 OPEB liability.  The city currently has eleven (11) total LEOFF 1 retirees: 
six (6) firefighters and five (5) police officers. Total estimated OPEB liabilities for those eleven 
members is about $5.1 million ($2.8 million for firefighters and $2.3 million for police officers). 
This OPEB liability was calculated using the state actuary’s interactive tool which used the 
healthcare trend rates detailed in the 2020 LEOFF 1 OPEB AVR and medical and long-term care 
costs projections from 6/30 2020 to 6/30/2022.  The $5.2 million is just a rough estimate for the 
purpose of this report and it can change significantly for the 2023 reporting year depending on 
the new actuarial data and assumptions being used by the state actuary.  
 
Currently, the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund is reported as a sub-fund of the General Fund and is 
rolled to the General Fund for financial statement reporting purposes, with the entire fund 
balance reported as “committed” per the City Council fund balance designation ordinance.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
It is proposed that the City Council approve an Ordinance to establish a fund named LEOFF 1 
OPEB Trust (or Reserve) Fund to designate funding sources and to restrict the use of funds that 
are designated for LEOFF 1 firefighter and police retirees. The proposed funding sources and use 
restrictions are summarized below.  
 
Funding Source: 
 

• The city pursuant to SSB 5894 continues imposing the pension levy of 22.5 cents per 
$1,000 assessed valuation and places those funds in the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund, unless 
a report by a qualified actuary establishes that all or any part of the pension levy is 
unnecessary to meet the estimated demands on the fund for the ensuing budget year.  

• Interest on the investments of the funds 

58



• Transfer of the excess funds (if any) from the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund at the time 
there are no LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees and/or eligible survivors who are receiving the 
excess pension benefits. 

• Any other funds designated by the City Council. 
 
Use Restrictions: 
 

• Must be used exclusively to pay benefits to the LEOFF 1 members (both police and fire), 
pursuant to RCW 41.26 and SSB 5894, until such time as there are no retirees eligible to 
receive benefits from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

• Costs directly related to actuarial analysis and administrative functions of the LEOFF 1 
OPEB Trust Fund can be charged to the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

• Only at the time there are no beneficiaries remaining, the remaining funds can be 
transferred to the General Fund of the city for other municipal purposes. 

 
The state auditor’s office confirmed that by establishing the LEOFF 1 OPEB fund by an ordinance 
with the funding and use restrictions mentioned above, the funds in the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust (or 
Reserve) Fund can be reported as a “restricted” fund balance of the General Fund for the financial 
statement reporting purposes. However, the LEOFF 1 OPEB Fund will still be rolled to the General 
Fund for financial statement reporting purposes.  
 
An Ordinance to establish a fund named LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust (or Reserve) Fund which has been 
reviewed by the City Attorney, Kevin Nelson. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The creation of the fund has no fiscal impact.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council approve Ordinance No. 1078-B on first reading, 
authorizing the establishment of a LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund and conduct the second reading 
at the City Council meeting on November 13, 2023.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION  
 
I move that the City Council approve Ordinance No. 1078-B on first reading, authorizing the 
establishment of a LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund and conduct the second reading at the City 
Council meeting on November 13, 2023.  
 
 
 
 

59



60



ORDINANCE NO.  1078-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, ESTABLISHING A NEW FUND, 
THE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS’ & FIREFIGHTERS’ PLAN 1 (LEOFF 1) OTHER POST-
EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) TRUST FUND  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Chehalis has retirees of the Law Enforcement Officers’ and 
Firefighters’ Retirement System Plan 1, and  
 
WHEREAS, the city, pursuant to RCW 41.26, provides necessary medical services and long-
term care coverage for LEOFF 1 retirees, as approved by the local LEOFF 1 Board, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city has a Firemen’s Pension Fund to pay the pension benefits for those 
eligible retirees and their spouse pursuant to RCW 41.16.050 and RCW 41.26.040, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund, pursuant to RCW 41.26.150, may be used to 
pay for medical services and long-term care benefits for retired LEOFF 1 firefighters if the 
fund’s assets exceed all future pension benefits, and 
 
WHEREAS, the 2019 actuarial study on the city’s Firemen’s Pension reported that the city’s 
Firemen’s Pension Fund has sufficient assets to pay all future excess pension benefits 
without additional pension levy, and that a portion of the excess can be used to pay the 
medical and long-term care benefits for LEOFF 1 firefighters, and  
 
WHEREAS, the SSB 5894 authorizes cities and towns to continue imposing the pension levy 
to fund medical benefits for LEOFF 1 firefighters and law enforcement officers and other 
municipal purposes until the municipality no longer has any LEOFF 1 retirees receiving 
medical benefits, and that the proceeds of the pension levy must first be expended for 
payment of medical benefits under LEOFF 1, prior to being used for any other municipal 
purpose, and 
 
WHEREAS, the actuarial liability for LEOFF 1 OPEB exceeds the resources available in the 
Firemen’s Pension Fund for the LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees, and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2020 the city added a LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund to its budget and began to 
place the pension levy to provide funds for LEOFF 1 OPEB liability, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city would like to establish a fund by renaming the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve 
Fund to LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund and to continue funding for the LEOFF 1 OPEB liability   

 
NOW, THERFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DOES 

HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. There is established a city fund known as LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund 115. The 

LOEFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund shall be used for the purpose of accounting for all monies received and 
expended for current LEOFF 1 retiree’s necessary medical services and long-term care coverage. 

61



 
Section 2. The sources of revenue for the fund  shall consist of 1) 22.5 cents per $1,000 

assessed valuation pension levy, pursuant to SSB 5894, unless a report by a qualified actuary 
establishes that all or any part of the pension levy is unnecessary to meet the estimated demands 
of? the fund for the ensuing budget year; 2) transfer of the excess funds, if any, from the city’s 
Firemen’s Pension Fund when the city no longer has any LEOFF 1 firefighters receiving the excess 
pension and medical and long-term care benefits; 3) interest on the investments of the fund; 4) 
any other funds as designated by the city council. 

 
Section 3. The LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund shall be used exclusively to pay benefits to the 

LEOFF 1 members, pursuant to RCW 41.26 and SSB 5894, until such time as there are no retirees 
legally eligible to receive benefits from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. In addition to the benefit 
payments, costs directly related to actuarial analysis and administrative functions of the LEOFF 1 
OPEB Trust Fund should be charged to the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

 
Section 4. At the time there are no retirees legally eligible to receive benefits from the 

LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund, any remaining funds shall be transferred to the General Fund of the 
city for other municipal purposes. 

 
Section 5. That any previously enacted ordinance, or part thereof in conflict herewith be 

and the same hereby is repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
Section 6. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be five days after its passage of and 

publications as required by law.   
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, APPROVED on its first 

reading on the _____ day of _________________, 2023 and the second and final reading on the 
_____ day of __________________, 2023. 

 
        ______________________________ 

Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
______________________________ 
 City Attorney 

62



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
     
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director 
     
MEETING OF:  October 23, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:   2023 Third Quarter Financial Report 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
This document provides a summary review of the City’s financial activities and status for the quarter 
ending 9/30/2023.  
 
The attached financial statements include 1) a City-wide summary of all city funds with beginning fund 
balances, revenues & transfers in, expenditures & transfers out, changes in fund balances, and estimated 
ending fund balances 2) two-year comparative financial statements for City-wide all funds combined and 
3) two-year comparative financial statements for the General Fund and the major proprietary funds.   
 
The financial statements have been formatted to be consistent with the budget for ease of comparison 
and review of information.  Comparisons and variances shown are based on straight line projections. The 
YTD target for September is 75% (9 of 12 months). 
 
CITY-WIDE OVERVIEW 
 
The below table provides the overview of the city-wide (all funds combined) financial status with the 
budget to actual comparison for the period ending September 30, 2023: 
 

 

City-Wide, All Funds
2023 Amended 

Budget 
YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

2023 YTD 
% of 

Budget

Variance YTD vs. 
Target Positive 

(Negative)

Beginning Fund Balance 32,347,983$      32,347,983$     100.0% -$                        

Revenues 30,531,342        21,443,155        70.2% (1,455,348)        
Transfers In 4,354,862          3,186,206          73.2% (79,941)              
Revenues and Transfers in 34,886,204        24,629,361        70.6% (1,535,289)        

Expenditures 36,255,773        19,076,770        52.6% 8,115,062          
Transfers Out 4,354,862          3,186,206          73.2% 79,941               
Expenditures and Transfers Out 40,610,635        22,262,976        54.8% 8,195,003          

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (5,724,431)         2,366,385          -41.3% 6,659,714          
Ending Fund Balance 26,623,552$      34,714,368$     130.4% 6,659,714$       

63



Through September, the City has collected 70.2% of the 2023 revenue budget and has expensed 52.6% of 
the 2023 expenditure budget.  
 

 
 
2023 YTD revenue (excluding transfers) is 4.8% or $1,455,348 below the nine-month target. 
Intergovernmental revenue and other non-revenues are the key contributing factors for this variance. The 
2023 budget includes $1.46 million in federal grants but only 11.7% or $170,869 has been received 
through September. Other non-revenues include the interfund advances to and from certain city funds 
that were budgeted to provide temporary funding for federal reimbursable grant projects, which has not 
begun as of 9/30/2023. 
 

 

64



2023 YTD expenditures (excluding transfers) through 
September is 22.4% or $8,115,062 below the nine-
month target. Significant portion of this variance is 
contributable to capital outlays activities. YTD 
operating expenditures is 66.6% of the 2023 budget, 
whereas YTD capital expenditure is 25.9% of the 2023 
budget. 
 
About 90% of the total city’s revenues and 
expenditures are from the General Fund and 
Proprietary funds. 
 
 
Other than the General Fund, all other funds are restricted or reserved funds that are used to account 
for specific revenues or resources that are legally restricted or designated to finance particular activities 
of the city, such as transportation benefit district (TBD), lodging tax, utilities, and Airport funds. 
 
Additional information on the revenue and expenditure variances for the General Fund and the major 
proprietary funds are explained in more detail in the fund overview section below.  
 
Bottom Line:  The City operated within normal budget parameters. 
 
GENERAL FUND (CURRENT EXPENSE) OVERVIEW 
 
2023 YTD revenues and expenditures compared to the budget and one prior year is provided below. 
 

 
 
The General Fund’s 2023 YTD total revenue and transfers is $9,339,911. This is 0.5% or $66,712 over the 
nine-month target amount. Total YTD expenditures is $9,727,534. This is 5.1% or $704,437 below the nine-
month target amount. 2023 YTD expenditures exceeded the revenues by $387,623.  The fund balance as 
of September 30, 2023, is $3,198,388, which is about 34.2% of the 2023 general fund revenue budget.  
 
General Fund Revenues: 
 
The below table provides summary information on the City’s General Fund revenues by major source.  
 

General Fund Summary
2023 Amended 

Budget
YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % 
of 

Budget

^Variance 
YTD vs.Target 

Positive 
(Negative)

 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

2023-2022 
Incr. 

(Decr.)
% 

Change
Beginning Fund Balance 3,586,011$         3,586,011$        100.0% -$                     2,713,504$    872,507$   32.2%
Revenues 12,181,398         9,279,911          76.2% 143,862          8,846,344       433,567      4.9%
Transfers-In 182,867               60,000                32.8% (77,150)           190,775          (130,775)    -68.5%
Revenues and Transfers in 12,364,265         9,339,911          75.5% 66,712            9,037,119       302,792      3.4%
Expenditures 12,029,067         8,135,473          67.6% 886,328          7,396,927       738,546      10.0%
Transfers-out 1,880,226           1,592,061          84.7% (181,891)        1,716,539       (124,478)    -7.3%
Expenditures and Transfers Out 13,909,293         9,727,534          69.9% 704,437          9,113,466       614,068      6.7%
Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (1,545,028)         (387,623)            25.1% 771,149          (76,347)           (311,276)    407.7%
Ending Fund Balance 2,040,983$         3,198,388$        156.7% 771,149$        2,637,157$    561,231$   21.3%
Ending Fund Balance % of Revenue 16.5% 34.2%

65



 
 
Total tax revenues make up about 84% of total General 
Fund revenues received through September 30, 2023. 
2023 YTD total tax revenue received is an increase of 
$507,504 or 6.9% when compared to September 2022. 
 
Property Tax: YTD received is 58.4% of the 2023 budget. 
This is normal trend for this time of the year. The second 
half of property tax is due in October and will be received 
by the City in November.  Property tax is the second 
largest revenue source for the General Fund. YTD 
property tax revenue makes up 13.7% of the total 
General Fund revenue.  
 
Sales and Use Tax: YTD received is 80.5% of the 2023 
budget. This is 5.5% or $346,993 over the nine-month target amount. This total includes the 1.0% local 
regular and optional sales tax, 0.1% county imposed criminal justice sales tax that is shared with cities and 
brokered natural gas sales tax.   
 
Sales tax is the City’s largest revenue source. YTD sales tax 
revenue makes up about 54.6% of the total general fund 
revenues. 2023 YTD sales tax received is an increase of 
$341,489 or 7.2% from this time last year. About 49% or 
$165.348 of the growth over last year is from the 
aggregated construction sector sales tax, which is not 
considered an ongoing sustainable revenue. 2023 YTD 
sales tax from construction sector makes up about 10% of 
the total local sales tax, whereas the average construction 
sales tax for the prior 10-years is about 6%. 
 
The chart illustrates the month-to-month comparisons for 
Chehalis local sales tax revenues for years 2023, 2022, 2021, and 2020. 

General Fund Revenues

2023 
Amended 

Budget
YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

Variance 
YTD Target 
vs. Actual 

 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

2023-2022 
Incr. (Decr.)

% 
Change

Tax Revenues:
Property Tax 2,182,487$    1,275,608$    58.4% (361,257)$ 1,273,780$   1,828$       0.1%
Sales & Use Tax 6,332,100      5,096,068      80.5% 346,993     4,754,579     341,489     7.2%
Util ity Business Tax 1,697,800      1,405,144      82.8% 131,794     1,244,665     160,479     12.9%
Other Taxes 56,600            46,555            82.3% 4,105          42,847           3,708          8.7%
Subtotal for Tax Revenues 10,268,987    7,823,375      76.2% 121,635     7,315,871     507,504     6.9%
Licenses & Permits 436,400         258,703         59.3% (68,597)      419,123        (160,420)    -38.3%
Intergov. 474,311         423,281         89.2% 67,547       333,633        89,648       26.9%
Chg for Goods & Services 525,500         415,480         79.1% 21,355       409,822        5,658          1.4%
Fines & Forf. 115,900         76,269            65.8% (10,656)      67,939           8,330          12.3%
Other 360,300         282,803         78.5% 12,578       299,956        (17,153)      -5.7%
Subtotal for Non-Tax Revenues 1,912,411      1,456,536      76.2% 22,227       1,530,473     (73,937)      -4.8%
Transfers-in 182,867         60,000            32.8% (77,150)      190,775        (130,775)    -68.5%
Total Revenues 12,364,265$ 9,339,911$    75.5% 66,712$     9,037,119$   302,792$   3.4%
Total excluding transfers in 12,181,398$ 9,279,911$   76.2% 143,862$  8,846,344$  433,567$  4.9%

66



 
Utility Business Tax: YTD received is 82.8% of the 2023 budget and is $131,794 over the nine-month target 
amount. Electric, gas, garbage, water, and sewer utility taxes collections exceed the nine-month target, 
whereas telephone and cable utility taxes are slightly below the nine-month target amount.  
 
Licenses and Permits: YTD received is 59.3% of the 2023 budget and is $68,597 or 15.7% below the nine-
month target amount. This amount includes business licenses fees, franchise fees, building permit fees, 
and other permit fees. (i.e., animal licenses and gun permits). 2023 YTD business license fee revenue is 
2.3% or $2,632 over the nine-month target. However, YTD building permit fee revenue is 22.3% or $71,229 
below the nine-month target. 2023 YTD licenses and permit fees revenue is a decrease of $160,420 or 
38.3% when compared with 2022 YTD through September. 
 
Intergovernmental Revenue: This category includes intergovernmental grants, state shared revenues, 
and the Main Street B&O Tax Credit. YTD total received is 89.2% of the 2023 budget and is $67,547 over 
the nine-month target amount. Intergovernmental grant is the contributing factor for this positive 
variance. All grants budgeted in the General Fund were received to-date. 
 
Charges for goods and services: YTD received is 79.1% of the 2023 budget. This category includes charges 
for fire and police services, plan check review fees, and recreation program fees. Recreation program fees 
make up about 53% of the 2023 budget in this category. YTD parks and recreation program revenue is 
96.0% of the 2023 budget. A significant portion of the recreation program fee revenues are typically 
received during the summer months.  
 
General Fund Expenditures and Transfers-out 
 
2023 YTD expenditures and transfers-out through September is $9,727,534 or 69.9% of the 2023 
budget. All departments operated within the budget parameters and their YTD expenditures are below 
the nine-month target amount, except for Non-departmental and recreation departments.  
 
Non-departmental department’s YTD expenditure is 78.7% of the 2023 budget and is 3.7% or $83,582 
over the nine-month target amount. This is due to the $800,000 transfers out to reserve funds budgeted 
were completed in the first half of the year.  
 
• Recreation department’s YTD expenditure is 78.3% of the 2023 budget and is 3.3% or $16,050 over 

the nine-month target amount. Expenditures 
for seasonal workers’ wages and supplies for 
the pool operations during the summer 
months are the contributing factors for this 
variance.  
 

• Planning and Building department’s YTD 
expenditures is 48.1% of the 2023 budget and 
is 26.9% or $312,597 below the nine-month 
target. A temporarily vacant position and 
contracted services are the key contributing 
factors for this variance. 2023 budget includes 
a total of $543,800 in professional consultant 
services for inspection, comp plan update, and 

67



other local planning. About 31.4% or $373,050 of the budget has been spent through the end of 
September. 

 
Police and fire makes up 48% of the General Fund’s YTD total expenditures and transfers. Facilities & Parks 
and Transfer to the Street Fund makes up 14.0% and 4.0% of the total General Fund’s YTD expenditures, 
respectively. Salaries and benefits makes up about 59% of the General Fund’s YTD total expenditures and 
transfers out.  
 

 
Bottom Line: Overall, the General Fund operated within the budget parameters.   
 
PROPRIETARY FUND OVERVIEW 
 
The combined totals for the city’s wastewater, water, and storm & surface water funds are summarized  
below: 
 
2023 YTD combined total utility revenue (excluding interfund transfers) is $7,742,684 which is 70.0% of 
the 2023 budget. 2023 YTD total utility revenues is made up of 58% Wastewater, 34% Water, and 8% 
Storm & Surface Water fund. While the charges for services revenues met the nine-month target, the 
intergovernmental revenue received through September is only 4.1% of the 2023 budget. The 
intergovernmental revenue budget includes $1,091,000 is for the Bishop Road Watermain Loop project 
which is funded by the 0.09 distressed county grant 
 

 

68



Total expenditures (excluding interfund transfers) is $6,921,477 which is 50.9% of the 2023 budget. The 
capital outlay is the key contributing factor for the YTD expenditure being below the nine-month target.  
 
Combined total fund balance for all three utility funds as of 9/30/2023 is $17,142,116 which consist of 
$6,950,363 in the O&M funds and $10,191,753 in the Capital funds. 
 

 
Additional information on each utility fund is provided below: 
 
Wastewater Fund (O&M) 
 

2023 YTD revenues received is $4,477,413. This is $217,788 or 3.8% over the nine-month target amount.  
 
Charges for services is $292,843 or 5.7% over the nine-month target amount, while the 
hookup/connection fee revenue is $33,942 or 33.9% below the nine-month target.  
 
Total YTD expenditures and transfers out is 62.7% of the 2023 Budget. YTD operating expenditures is 
66.9% of the budget and is $311,308 below the nine-month target amount. YTD debt service expenditure 
is 51.1% of the 2023 Budget.  
 
Total YTD revenues exceed the total expenditures and transfers out by $593,700.  The ending fund balance 
as of September 30, 2023, is $4,706,938.  
 
Water Fund (O&M) 
 

2023 YTD revenues received is $2,459,796 or 73.9% of the 2023 Budget. This is $36,962 below the nine-
month target amount. Charges for services and hook up/connection fee revenues are 75.0% of the 2023 
budget. 
 
2023 YTD expenditures and transfers out is $2,750,979 or 68.7% of the 2023 budget. YTD operating 
expenditure is 10.1% or $285,619 below the nine-month target amount. YTD debt service expenditures is 
100% of the 2023 budget.  
 
Total YTD expenditures exceeds the revenues by $291,183.  The ending fund balance as of September 30, 
2023, is $1,800,767. 

69



 
Storm & Surface Water Fund (O&M)  
 

2023 YTD revenues received is $565,658, which exceeds the nine-month target amount by $11,955 or 
1.6%.  
 
YTD total expenditures and transfers out is $484,034 or 59.8% of the 2023 budget. 
 
Total revenues exceeded total expenditures and transfers out by $81,624. The ending fund balance as of 
September 30, 2023, is $442,658. 
 
Wastewater Capital Fund (O&M) 
 
2023 TYD total revenues is $377,938 or 76.7% of the 2023 budget. Revenues includes transfers in from 
the Wastewater O & M Fund and investment interest earnings. 2023 capital expenditure budget is 
$1,190,790 but only $214,266 or 18.0% has been spent through September.  Total ending fund balance as 
of September 30, 2023, is $2,291,294. 
 
Water Capital Fund 
 
2023 TYD total revenues is $805,562 or 38.4% of the 2023 budget. Revenue budget includes transfers in 
from the Water O & M Fund, investment interest earnings, and $1.091 million 0.09 Distressed County 
grant for the Bishop Water Loop project. A total of $19,497 grant has been received through September. 
2023 YTD capital expenditures is $630,142 or 24.7% of the 2023 Budget. Total ending fund balance as of 
September 30, 2023, is $6,398,661. 
 
Storm & Surface Water Capital Fund 
 
2023 YTD total revenues is $171,642 or 80.8% of the 2023 budget. Revenues include transfers in from the 
Storm & Surface Water O & M Fund and investment interest earnings. 2023 YTD capital expenditures is 
$73,602 or 21.9% of the 2023 Budget. Total ending fund balance as of September 30, 2023, is $1,501,798. 
 
Airport Fund  
 

2023 YTD operating revenues is $1,743,430 or 67.6% of the 2023 Budget. YTD fuel sales exceeds the nine-
month target amount by $121,922 or 18.9%. YTD rents and leases revenue is 79.0% of the 2023 budget 
and is $57,721 over the nine-month target amount.  
 
2023 YTD expenditures is $1,224,674 or 64.3% of the 2023 Budget.  This is 10.7% or $204,532 below the 
nine-month target amount. The key contributing factor for this variance is from professional services 
expenditure. 2023 budget includes $502,000 for Airport Master Plan Study and about 36% or $164,438 
has been expensed through September.  
 
Total YTD revenues exceed total expenditures by $518,756. Ending fund balance as of September 30, 
2023, is $858,956. 
 
 
 
 
 

70



Airport Capital Fund  
 
2023 YTD total revenues is $128,349 or 86.3% of the 2023 budget. Revenues include transfers in from the 
Airport O & M Fund and investment interest earnings. 2023 YTD capital expenditures is $119,131 which 
is 56.5% of the 2023 Budget. Ending fund balance as of September 30, 2023, is $1,983,343. 
 
TREASURER’S REPORT – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

The City’s total cash, deposits, and investments as of September 30, 2023, is $34,714,368. About 88.7% 
of the City’s cash is invested and earns interest. The remaining 11.3% is deposited in checking accounts to 
cover on-going cash flow needs.  
 
Only 9.2% or $3,198,388 of the city’s total cash and investment balance as of September30, 2023 
belongs to the General Fund. Other than the General Fund, all other funds are restricted funds which 
account for specific revenues or resources that are legally restricted or designated to finance particular 
activities of the city, such as transportation benefit district, lodging tax, federal grant fund, utilities, and 
Airport funds. 
` 
A summary of cash funds and investment types are as follows: 
 

 
    

   

Note: Other than the General Fund, all other funds are  
restricted or designated to finance particular activities 
of the City.  

  
   
   
   

As of September 30, 2023, the City also holds an additional $68,814 in the City’s checking account for 
custodial funds for moneys to be disbursed to other agencies (i.e., sales and leasehold taxes and state 
court revenues).  
 
Total YTD investment interest earnings through September 30, 2023, totaled $957,866.  The average LGIP 
net earnings rate for the first nine months in 2023 is 4.970%.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 

As shown. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Account Type Balance 9/30/2023 % of Total
Checking & Revolving Cash Fund 3,922,261$                     11.30%
Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) 24,745,606                     71.28%
US Govt Agency Securities (Bonds) 6,046,501                       17.42%
Total 34,714,368$                   100.00%

City of Chehalis Cash, Deposits & Investments - Total Combined All  City Funds

71



It is recommended that the City Council review this information and let staff know if there are any 
questions. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

N/A 

72



 
City of Chehalis 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Quarterly   
Council Financial Report  

Third Quarter 2023 
 

For the Period Ending  
September 30, 2023  

(January through September)  
 

The City of Chehalis, Washington 

73



Fund Type/Name

2023 

Amended 

Budget

Actual 

1/1/2023

2023 

Amended 

Budget

YTD 

9/30/2023 

Actual

YTD % of 

Budget

2023 

Amended 

Budget

YTD 

9/30/2023 

Actual

YTD % of 

Budget

2023 

Amended 

Budget

YTD 

9/30/2023 

Actual

2023 

Amended 

Budget

YTD 

9/30/2023 

Actual

General Fund & Sub‐Funds:

General Fund 3,586,011$      3,586,011$      12,364,265$   9,339,911$      75.5% 13,909,293$   9,727,534$      69.9% (1,545,028)$    (387,623)$       2,040,983        3,198,388$     

General Fund Sub‐funds:

Street Fund 472,118           472,118           1,238,644        796,954           64.3% 1,481,445        894,352           60.4% (242,801)          (97,398)            229,317           374,720          

Building Abatement Fund 52,399             52,399             50                      1,773                3546.0% ‐                    ‐                    0.0% 50                      1,773                52,449             54,172            

Compensated Absences Fund 212,092           212,092           7,500                6,238                83.2% 86,800             76,880             88.6% (79,300)            (70,642)            132,792           141,450          

LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund 150,554           150,554           242,098           151,203           62.5% 157,000           89,429             57.0% 85,098             61,774             235,652           212,328          

Automotive/Equip. Reserve Fund 742,969           742,969           479,600           480,529           100.2% 431,100           65,462             15.2% 48,500             415,067           791,469           1,158,036       

Total General Fund and Sub‐Funds 5,216,143        5,216,143        14,332,157      10,776,608      3685.9% 16,065,638      10,853,657      130.3% (1,733,481)      (77,049)            3,482,662        5,139,094       

Special Revenue Funds:

Arterial Street Fund 6,027                6,027                ‐                    ‐                    0.0% 6,027                6,027                100.0% (6,027)               (6,027)               ‐                    ‐                   

Transportation Benefit Dist. Fund 3,634,765        3,634,765        1,545,820        1,747,173        113.0% 1,841,310        1,187,666        64.5% (295,490)          559,507           3,339,275        4,194,272       

Tourism Fund 214,610           214,610           296,400           251,001           84.7% 332,394           228,684           68.8% (35,994)            22,317             178,616           236,927          

Community Block Grant Fund 25,798             25,798             400                   873                   218.3% 26,000             ‐                    0.0% (25,600)            873                   198                   26,671            

HUD Block Grant Fund 89,769             89,769             1,700                3,037                178.6% 91,000             31,540             34.7% (89,300)            (28,503)            469                   61,266            

Federal Advance Grant Fund 1,920,670        1,920,670        72,000             64,205             89.2% 1,961,317        5,000                0.3% (1,889,317)      59,205             31,353             1,979,875       

Total Special Revenue Funds 5,891,639        5,891,639        1,916,320        2,066,289        107.8% 4,258,048        1,458,917        34.3% (2,341,728)      607,372           3,549,911        6,499,011       

Debt Service Funds:

2011 G.O. Bond Fund 63                      63                      301,529           209,040           69.3% 301,529           209,040           69.3% ‐                    ‐                    63                      63                     

Total Debt Service Fund 63                      63                      301,529           209,040           69.3% 301,529           209,040           69.3% ‐                    ‐                    63                      63                     

Capital Project Funds:

Public Facilities Reserve Fund 601,928           601,928           783,935           445,407           56.8% 612,703           136,868           22.3% 171,232           308,539           773,160           910,467          

Park Improvement Fund 131,718           131,718           1,405,863        172,777           12.3% 1,312,980        33,566             2.6% 92,883             139,211           224,601           270,929          

First Quarter REET Fund 333,846           333,846           344,500           83,309             24.2% 350,760           130,759           37.3% (6,260)               (47,450)            327,586           286,396          

Second Quarter REET Fund 471,420           471,420           484,800           88,912             18.3% 494,675           52,187             10.5% (9,875)               36,725             461,545           508,145          

Total Capital Project Funds 1,538,912        1,538,912        3,019,098        790,405           26.2% 2,771,118        353,380           12.8% 247,980           437,025           1,786,892        1,975,937       

Proprietary Funds:

Garbage Fund 8,270                8,270                6,240                4,885                78.3% 6,240                3,342                53.6% ‐                    1,543                8,270                9,813               

Wastewater Fund 4,113,238        4,113,238        5,679,500        4,477,413        78.8% 6,193,512        3,883,713        62.7% (514,012)          593,700           3,599,226        4,706,938       

Water Fund 2,091,950        2,091,950        3,329,010        2,459,796        73.9% 4,005,145        2,750,979        68.7% (676,135)          (291,183)          1,415,815        1,800,767       

Storm & Surface Water Fund 361,034           361,034           738,270           565,658           76.6% 810,012           484,034           59.8% (71,742)            81,624             289,292           442,658          

Airport Fund 340,200           340,200           2,579,680        1,743,430        67.6% 1,905,608        1,224,674        64.3% 674,072           518,756           1,014,272        858,956          

Wastewater Capital Fund 2,127,688        2,127,688        492,500           377,938           76.7% 1,190,790        214,332           18.0% (698,290)          163,606           1,429,398        2,291,294       

Water Capital Fund 6,223,241        6,223,241        2,097,300        805,562           38.4% 2,548,455        630,142           24.7% (451,155)          175,420           5,772,086        6,398,661       

Storm & Surface Water Capital Fund 1,403,758        1,403,758        212,300           171,642           80.8% 336,640           73,602             21.9% (124,340)          98,040             1,279,418        1,501,798       

Airport Capital Fund 1,974,125        1,974,125        148,800           128,349           86.3% 210,900           119,132           56.5% (62,100)            9,217                1,912,025        1,983,342       

Total Proprietary Funds 18,643,504      18,643,504      15,283,600      10,734,673      70.2% 17,207,302      9,383,950        4                   (1,923,702)      1,350,723        16,719,802      19,994,227     

Fiduciary Funds: (Exclude Custodial Funds)

Firemen's Pension Fund 1,057,722        1,057,722        33,500             52,346             156.3% 7,000                4,032                57.6% 26,500             48,314             1,084,222        1,106,036       

Total Fiduciary Funds 1,057,722        1,057,722        33,500             52,346             156.3% 7,000                4,032                57.6% 26,500             48,314             1,084,222        1,106,036       

TOTAL ALL CITY FUNDS 32,347,983$   32,347,983$   34,886,204$   24,629,361$   70.6% 40,610,635$   22,262,976$   54.8% (5,724,431)$    2,366,385$      26,623,552$   34,714,368$  

Note: May contain rounding differences of +/‐1 ‐$                      ‐$                      ‐$                      ‐$                     

City of Chehalis

Revenues, Expenditures, and Fund Balances ‐ Budget to Actual Summary

2023 Second Quarter Financial Statements ‐ All Funds
As of September 30, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance Revenues & Transfers Expenditures & Transfers Changes in Fund Balance Ending Fund Balance

Page 1
74



YTD Target 75%

City‐wide All Funds
2023 Amended 

Budget

YTD Actual 

9/30/2023

YTD % of 

Budget

 Variance 2023 

YTD vs. Target 

Positive 

(Negative) 

YTD Actual 

9/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 

2023‐2022 % Change

Beginning Cash and Investments  $     32,347,983   $     32,347,983  100.0%                            ‐   $     26,709,786   $       5,638,197  21.1%

Revenues
Taxes (310): 
Property Taxes 2,182,487           1,275,608           58.4% (361,257)            1,273,781           1,827                  0.1%
Retail Sales and Use Tax  6,332,100           5,096,068           80.5% 346,993              4,754,579           341,489              7.2%
Public Transportation Sales Tax 1,434,900           1,156,243           80.6% 80,068                1,076,167           80,076                7.4%
Hotel/Motel Tax 290,000              244,425              84.3% 26,925                224,827              19,598                8.7%
Utility Tax 1,697,800           1,405,144           82.8% 131,794              1,244,665           160,479              12.9%
Leasehold Tax 56,600                46,555                82.3% 4,105                  42,847                3,708                  8.7%
REET  227,600              144,836              63.6% (25,864)               237,240              (92,404)               ‐38.9%
Total Taxes (310) 12,221,487        9,368,879          76.7% 202,764              8,854,106          514,773              5.8%
Licenses and Permits (320):
Business Licenses & Permits 116,600              90,082                77.3% 2,632                  92,351                (2,269)                 ‐2.5%
Non‐Business Licenses & Permits 324,800              168,646              51.9% (74,954)               326,772              (158,126)            ‐48.4%
Total Licenses and Permits (320) 441,400              258,728              58.6% (72,322)               419,123              (160,395)            ‐38.3%
Intergovernmental Revenues (330):
Federal Grant 1,462,230           170,869              11.7% (925,804)            1,859,769           (1,688,900)         ‐90.8%
State Grant 192,130              657,117              342.0% 513,020              629,872              27,245                4.3%
State Shared Revenues 455,715              342,828              75.2% 1,042                  373,288              (30,460)               ‐8.2%
Local Grants 1,091,200           19,622                1.8% (798,778)            ‐                            19,622                0.0%
Total Intergovernmental (330) 3,201,275          1,190,436          37.2% (1,210,520)         2,862,929          (1,672,493)         ‐58.4%
Charges for Goods & Services (340):
General Government 18,550                15,389                83.0% 1,477                  14,784                605                       4.1%
Public Safety 87,300                56,318                64.5% (9,157)                 60,905                (4,587)                 ‐7.5%
Utilities 9,304,190           7,170,152           77.1% 192,010              7,184,014           (13,862)               ‐0.2%
Transportation/Airport 2,088,710           1,745,350           83.6% 178,818              1,515,091           230,259              15.2%
Economic Environment 191,500              124,639              65.1% (18,986)               136,341              (11,702)               ‐8.6%
Culture & Recreation 229,150              219,134              95.6% 47,272                197,692              21,442                10.8%
Total Charges for Goods & Services (340) 11,919,400        9,330,982          78.3% 391,434              9,108,827          222,155              2.4%
Fines & Penalties (350):

Civil & Criminal Fines & Penalties 115,800              76,239                65.8% (10,611)               67,849                8,390                  12.4%
Other Fines ‐ Late Fees 78,370                73,262                93.5% 14,485                73,919                (657)                    ‐0.9%
Total Fines & Penalties (350) 194,170              149,501              77.0% 3,874                  141,768              7,733                  5.5%
Miscellaneous Revenues (360):
Interest Earnings 982,990              957,866              97.4% 220,624              191,484              766,382              400.2%
Rents and Leases 169,200              132,043              78.0% 5,143                  124,070              7,973                  6.4%
Contributions/Donations 10,000                2,220                  22.2% (5,280)                 50,161                (47,941)               ‐95.6%
Other Miscellaneous  60,800                27,399                45.1% (18,201)               70,503                (43,104)               ‐61.1%
Total Miscellaneous Revenues (360) 1,222,990          1,119,528          91.5% 202,286              436,218              683,310              156.6%
Non‐Revenues (380):
Interfund Loan Payment 1,140,000           ‐                            0.0% (855,000)            54,135                (54,135)               ‐100.0%
Refundable Deposits 189,620              10,145                5.4% (132,070)            47,996                (37,851)               ‐78.9%
Total Non‐Revenues (380) 1,329,620          10,145                0.8% (987,070)            102,131              (91,986)               ‐90.1%
Other Financing Source (390):
Proceeds of Long‐Term Debt ‐                            ‐                            0.0% ‐                       147,163              (147,163)            ‐100.0%
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 1,000                  14,956                1495.6% 14,206                72,524                (57,568)               ‐79.4%
Transfers‐In 4,354,862           3,186,206           73.2% (79,941)               13,682,238        (10,496,032)       ‐76.7%
Total Other Financing Source (390) 4,355,862          3,201,162          73.5% (65,735)               13,901,925        (10,700,763)       ‐77.0%
Total Revenues  34,886,204        24,629,361        70.6% (1,535,289)         35,827,027        (11,197,666)       ‐31.3%

‐                            ‐                           
Expenditures
General Government (510) 3,232,152           2,173,879           67.3% 250,235              1,967,525           206,354              10.5%
Public Safety (520) 7,104,313           4,948,850           69.7% 379,385              4,364,852           583,998              13.4%
Utilities (530) 7,342,382           4,785,018           65.2% 721,769              4,583,322           201,696              4.4%
Transportation & Airport (540) 2,976,417           1,842,506           61.9% 389,807              1,632,142           210,364              12.9%
Natural/Economic Environment (550) 1,038,401           468,149              45.1% 310,652              510,483              (42,334)               ‐8.3%
Social Services (560) 12,640                3,937                  31.1% 5,543                  11,593                (7,656)                 ‐66.0%
Cultural & Recreation (570) 887,210              733,579              82.7% (68,172)               688,241              45,338                6.6%
Non‐Expenditures (580) 1,228,346           42,937                3.5% 878,323              100,907              (57,970)               ‐57.4%
Debt Service (591‐593) 2,537,870           1,518,641           59.8% 384,762              1,464,345           54,296                3.7%
Capital Expenditures (594‐595) 9,896,042           2,559,274           25.9% 4,862,758           2,474,858           84,416                3.4%
Transfers‐Out (597) 4,354,862           3,186,206           73.2% 79,941                13,682,238        (10,496,032)       ‐76.7%
Total Expenditures 40,610,635        22,262,976        54.8% 8,195,003          31,480,506        (9,217,530)         ‐29.3%

Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Investments (5,724,431)         2,366,385           ‐41.3% 6,659,714           4,346,521           (1,980,136)         ‐45.6%

Ending Cash and Investments 26,623,552$      34,714,368$      130.4% 6,659,714          31,056,307$      3,658,061$        11.8%

City of Chehalis 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Fund Balance ‐ City‐wide, All Funds Combined

For the Year Ending September 30, 2023 and 2022

Page 275



YTD Target % * 75.0%

General Fund (001)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 3,586,011$   3,586,011$  100.0% -$                 2,713,504$  872,507$     

Revenues:
Taxes:
Property Taxes 2,182,487$   1,275,608$  58.4% (361,257)$    1,273,780$  1,828$         
Sales and Use Taxes 6,332,100     5,096,068    80.5% 346,993       4,754,579    341,489       
Utility Taxes 1,697,800     1,405,144    82.8% 131,794       1,244,665    160,479       
Other Taxes $56,600 $46,555 82.3% 4,105           42,847         3,708           
Total Taxes 10,268,987   7,823,375    76.2% 121,635       7,315,871    507,504       

Non-Tax Revenues:
Business Licenses and Permits $116,600 $90,082 77.3% 2,632           $92,351 (2,269)          
Non-Business Licenses and Permits 319,800        168,621       52.7% (71,229)        326,772       (158,151)      
Intergovernmental Grants $170,410 $188,921 110.9% 61,113         $72,524 116,397       
State Shared Revenues 303,901        234,360       77.1% 6,434           261,109       (26,749)        
Charges for Goods & Services 525,500        415,480       79.1% 21,355         409,822       5,658           
Fines and Forfeitures 115,900        76,269         65.8% (10,656)        67,939         8,330           
Interest Earnings 136,500        131,083       96.0% 28,708         25,959         105,124       
Rents & Leases 164,200        126,048       76.8% 2,898           119,950       6,098           
Misc. Other 59,600          25,672         43.1% (19,028)        154,047       (128,375)      
Total Non-Tax Revenues 1,912,411     1,456,536    76.2% 22,227         1,530,473    (73,937)        
Transfers-in 182,867        60,000         32.8% (77,150)        190,775       (130,775)      
Total Revenues 12,364,265$ 9,339,911$  75.5% 66,712$       9,037,119$  302,792$     

Expenditures

City Council 95,570$        64,579$       67.6% 7,099$         53,925$       10,654$       
Municipal Court 381,239        268,051       70.3% 17,878         234,009       34,042         
City Manager 221,129        165,671       74.9% 176              153,905       11,766         
Finance 389,462        246,079       63.2% 46,018         210,863       35,216         
City Clerk 121,195        85,628         70.7% 5,268           52,943         32,685         
Legal Service 100,200        61,191         61.1% 13,959         51,042         10,149         
Facilities and Parks 1,786,755     1,311,722    73.4% 28,344         1,124,680    187,042       
Non-Departmental 2,251,789     1,772,424    78.7% (83,582)        1,906,632    (134,208)      
Human Resources 180,081        111,798       62.1% 23,263         112,194       (396)             
Police 4,146,869     2,845,628    68.6% 264,524       2,341,904    503,724       
Fire 2,586,307     1,854,787    71.7% 84,943         1,773,425    81,362         
Planning & Building 1,159,914     557,339       48.1% 312,597       706,458       (149,119)      
Recreation 488,783        382,637       78.3% (16,050)        391,486       (8,849)          
Total Expenditures 13,909,293   9,727,534$  69.9% 704,437       9,113,466    614,068       

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (1,545,028)$  (387,623)$    25.1% 771,149       (76,347)$      (311,276)$    

Ending Fund Balance 2,040,983$   3,198,388$  156.7% 771,149$     2,637,157$  561,231$     
34.2%

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues, Expenditures, and Fund Balances - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

General Fund

Page 3
76



YTD Target % * 75.00%

GENERAL FUND (#001)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Expenditures by Category:

Salaries 5,903,997$  4,200,481$  71.1% 227,517$     3,702,151$  498,330$     
Benefits 2,445,520    1,771,581    72.4% 62,559         1,629,942    141,639       

Subtotal for Payroll 8,349,517    5,972,062    71.5% 290,076       5,332,093    639,969       
Supplies 555,145       388,041       69.9% 28,318         299,382       88,659         
Services 3,423,278    2,079,622    60.7% 487,837       2,044,384    35,238         
Capital Outlay 245,767       73,520         29.9% 110,805       38,758         34,762         
Debt Service &LT Lease 17,710         14,008         79.1% (725)             81,709         (67,701)        
Non-expense (582.589.*.00) 20,000         17,391         87.0% (2,391)          2,659           14,732         
Transfers-out 1,880,226    1,592,061    84.7% (181,891)      1,716,539    (124,478)      
Interfund Charges (582,350)      (409,171)      70.3% (27,592)        (402,058)      (7,113)          

Total Expenditures 13,909,293  9,727,534$  69.9% 704,437       9,113,466    614,068       

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Expenditures by Category - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

General Fund

Page 4
77



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Wastewater Fund (404)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 4,113,238$  4,113,238$  100.0% -$                  5,468,851$  (1,355,613)$ 

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Revenues 19,000$       8,543$         45.0% (5,707)$         -$             8,543$         
Charges for Goods & Services:

Charges for Services 5,117,900    4,131,268    80.7% 292,843        4,072,954    58,314         
Hookup/Connection -CFC Fee 100,200       41,208         41.1% (33,942)         146,440       (105,232)      
Capacity Charge (Cost Share) 277,400       138,689       50.0% (69,361)         173,361       (34,672)        

Total Charges for Goods & Services 5,495,500    4,311,165    78.4% 189,540        4,392,755    (81,590)        
Late Payment Fees 42,200         42,178         99.9% 10,528          41,980         198              
Miscellaneous:

Interest Earnings 118,500       110,985       93.7% 22,110          29,736         81,249         
Miscellaneous other 4,300           4,542           105.6% 1,317            4,635           (93)               

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 122,800       115,527       94.1% 23,427          34,371         81,156         

Total Operating Revenues 5,679,500    4,477,413    78.8% 217,788        4,469,106    8,307           

Other Fund Sources:
Debt Issue Proceeds -                   -                   0.0% -                    -                   -                   
Other Proceeds -                   -                   0.0% -                    -                   -                   

Total Other Fund Source -                   -                   0.0% -                    -                   -                   

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 5,679,500$  4,477,413$  78.8% 217,788$      4,469,106$  8,307$         

Expenditures:
Operating Expenditures:
Wages 1,153,276$  799,505$     69.3% 65,452$        720,634$     78,871$       
Benefits 568,660       387,972       68.2% 38,523          351,401       36,571         
Supplies 516,217       358,112       69.4% 29,051          406,772       (48,660)        
Services 1,617,968    1,035,194    64.0% 178,282        982,317       52,877         
Total Operating Expenditures: 3,856,121    2,580,783    66.9% 311,308        2,461,124    119,659       

Other Expenditures:
Capital Outlays -                   -                   0.0% -                    39,135         (39,135)        
Debt Service & Long-Term Lease 1,882,891    962,055       51.1% 450,113        961,329       726              
Total Other Expenditures 1,882,891    962,055       51.1% 450,113        1,000,464    (38,409)        

Other Funding Use
Interfund Transfers Out to Capital 454,500       340,875       75.0% -                    2,000,000    (1,659,125)   
Total Other Funding Use 454,500       340,875       75.0% -                    2,000,000    (1,659,125)   

Total Expenditures 6,193,512$  3,883,713$  62.7% 761,421$      5,461,588$  (1,577,875)$ 

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (514,012)$    593,700$     -115.5% 979,209$      (992,482)$    1,586,182$  

Ending Fund Balance 3,599,226$  4,706,938$  130.8% 979,209$      4,476,369$  230,569$     

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Wastewater Fund

Page 5
78



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Water Fund (405)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 2,091,950$  2,091,950$  100.0% -$                  7,866,126$  (5,774,176)$ 

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Revenues -$             14,498$        0.0% 14,498$        -$             14,498$        
Charges for Goods & Services:

Charges for Services 2,975,190$  2,230,802$  75.0% (591)$           2,079,880$  150,922$     
Hookup/Connection-CFC Fee 109,200        82,002          75.1% 102               156,003        (74,001)        

Total Charges for Goods & Services 3,084,390    2,312,804    75.0% (489)             2,235,883    76,921          
Late Payment Fees 30,000          24,110          80.4% 1,610            25,857          (1,747)          
Miscellaneous Revenues:

Interest Earnings 77,000          68,261          88.7% 10,511          25,468          42,793          
Miscellaneous other 2,000            550               27.5% (950)             25,000          (24,450)        

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 79,000          68,811          87.1% 9,561            50,468          18,343          

Total Operating Revenues 3,193,390    2,420,223    75.8% 25,180          2,312,208    108,015        

Other Funding Source
Customer Deposits 134,620        25,546          19.0% (75,419)        46,859          (21,313)        
Interfund Loan Repayment -                    -                    0.0% -                    54,135          (54,135)        
Debt Issue Proceeds -                    -                    0.0% -                    -                    
Other Proceeds 1,000            14,027          1402.7% 13,277          715               13,312          

Total Other Fund Source 135,620        39,573          29.2% (62,142)        101,709        (62,136)        

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 3,329,010$  2,459,796$  73.9% (36,962)$      2,413,917$  45,879$        

Operating Expenditures
Wages 955,503$     650,216$     68.0% 66,411          650,829$     (613)             
Benefits 469,609        322,764        68.7% 29,443          322,320        444               
Supplies 435,149        231,200        53.1% 95,162          234,420        (3,220)          
Services 974,468        636,248        65.3% 94,603          562,441        73,807          
Total Operating Expenditures 2,834,729    1,840,428    64.9% 285,619        1,770,010    70,418          

Other Expenditures
Debt Service & Long-Term Lease 233,770        233,780        100.0% (58,452)        234,908        (1,128)          
Total Other Expenditures 233,770        233,780        100.0% (58,452)        234,908        (1,128)          

Other Funding Use
Refunds of Customer Deposits 68,346          25,546          37.4% 25,714          44,113          (18,567)        
Interfund Transfers Out to Capital 868,300        651,225        75.0% -                    6,400,000    (5,748,775)   
Total Other Funding Use 936,646        676,771        72.3% 25,714          6,444,113    (5,767,342)   

Total Expenditures 4,005,145$  2,750,979$  68.7% 252,881$     8,449,031$  (5,698,052)$ 

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (676,135)$    (291,183)$    43.1% (289,843)$    (6,035,114)$ 5,743,931$  

Ending Fund Balance 1,415,815$  1,800,767$  127.2% (289,843)$    1,831,012$  (30,245)$      

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

 Water Fund

Page 6
79



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Storm Water Fund (406)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 361,034$     361,034$     100.0% -$                 1,516,682$  (1,155,648)$ 

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Revenue -$                 3,102$         0.0% 3,102$         -$                 3,102$         
Charges for Goods & Services:

Charges for Services $704,100 $540,562 76.8% $12,487 $547,520 -$6,958
Hookup/Connection Fee 14,100         1,076           7.6% (9,499)          2,836           (1,760)          

Total Charges for Goods & Services $718,200 541,638       75.4% 2,988           550,356       (8,718)          
Late Payment Fees 6,070           6,944           114.4% 2,391           5,992           952              
Miscellaneous Revenues:

Interest Earnings 14,000         13,974         99.8% 3,474           2,655           11,319         
Miscellaneous other -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 14,000         13,974         99.8% 3,474           2,655           11,319         

Total Operating Revenues 738,270       565,658       76.6% 11,955         559,003       6,655           

Other Fund Sources:
Debt Issue Proceeds -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  
Other Proceeds -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  

Total Other Fund Sources -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 738,270$     565,658$     76.6% 11,955$       559,003$     6,655$         

Expenditures:
Operating Expenditures:
Wages 266,496$     161,211$     60.5% 38,661$       175,913$     (14,702)$      
Benefits 140,768       90,279         64.1% 15,297         93,825         (3,546)          
Supplies 87,052         19,561         22.5% 45,728         19,770         (209)             
Services 150,976       89,348         59.2% 23,884         58,183         31,165         
Total Operating Expenditures 645,292       360,399       55.9% 123,570       347,691       12,708         

Other Expenditures:
Debt Service & Long-Term Lease 420              410              97.6% (95)               965              (555)             
Total Other Expenditures 420              410              97.6% (95)               965              (555)             

Other Funding Use
Interfund Transfers Out to Capital 164,300       123,225       75.0% -                  1,295,000    (1,171,775)   
Total Other Funding Use 164,300       123,225       75.0% -                  1,295,000    (1,171,775)   

Total Expenditures 810,012$     484,034$     59.8% 123,475$     1,643,656$  (1,159,622)$ 

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (71,742)$      81,624$       -113.8% (111,520)$    (1,084,653)$ 1,166,277$  

Ending Fund Balance 289,292$     442,658$     153.0% (111,520)$    432,029$     10,629$       

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Storm & Surface Water Fund

Page 7
80



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Wastewater Capital Fund (414)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 2,127,688$  2,127,688$  100.0% -$                 -$                 2,127,688$  

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental Revenues -$             -$             0.0% -$             -$             -$             
Miscellaneous Revenue:

Interest Earnings 38,000         37,063         97.5% 8,563           4,700           32,363         
Miscellaneous other -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 38,000         37,063         97.5% 8,563           4,700           32,363         

Total Operating Revenues 38,000         37,063         97.5% 8,563           4,700           32,363         

Other Fund Sources:
Debt Issue Proceeds -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  
Interfund Transfers in from Operating 454,500       340,875       75.0% -                  2,000,000    (1,659,125)   
Total Other Fund Source 454,500       340,875       75.0% -                  2,000,000    (1,659,125)   

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 492,500$     377,938$     76.7% 8,563$         2,004,700$  (1,626,762)$ 

Expenditures:
Operating Expenditures:
Services -$                 66$              0.0% (66)$             -$                 66$              
Total Operating Expenditures: -                  66                0.0% (66)               -               66                

Other Expenditures:
Capital Outlays 1,190,790    214,266       18.0% 678,827       31,593         182,673       
Total Other Expenditures 1,190,790    214,266       18.0% 678,827       31,593         182,673       

Total Expenditures 1,190,790$  214,332$     18.0% 678,761$     31,593$       182,739$     

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (698,290)$    163,606$     -23.4% 687,324$     1,973,107$  (1,809,501)$ 

Ending Fund Balance 1,429,398$  2,291,294$  160.3% 687,324$     1,973,107$  318,187$     

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Wastewater Capital Fund

Page 8
81



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Water Capital Fund (415)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 6,223,241$  6,223,241$  100.0% -$                 -$                 6,223,241$  

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental Revenues 1,091,000$  19,497$       1.8% (798,753)$    -$                 19,497$       
Miscellaneous Revenues:

Interest Earnings 138,000       134,840       97.7% 31,340         24,863         109,977       
Miscellaneous other -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 138,000       134,840       97.7% 31,340         24,863         109,977       

Total Operating Revenues 1,229,000    154,337       12.6% (767,413)      24,863         129,474       

Other Funding Source
Debt Issue Proceeds -                  -                  0.0% -                  -                  -                  
Interfund Transfers in from Operating 868,300       651,225       75.0% -                  6,400,000    (5,748,775)   

Total Other Fund Source 868,300       651,225       75.0% -                  6,400,000    (5,748,775)   

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 2,097,300$  805,562$     38.4% (767,413)$    6,424,863$  (5,619,301)$ 

Expenditures

Other Expenditures
Capital Outlays 2,548,455    630,142       24.7% 1,281,199    439,675       190,467       
Total Other Expenditures 2,548,455    630,142       24.7% 1,281,199    439,675       190,467       

Total Expenditures 2,548,455$  630,142$     24.7% 1,281,199$  439,675$     190,467$     

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (451,155)$    175,420$     -38.9% (2,048,612)$ 5,985,188$  (5,809,768)$ 

Ending Fund Balance 5,772,086$  6,398,661$  110.9% (2,048,612)$ 5,985,188$  413,473$     

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

 Water Capital Fund

Page 9
82



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Storm Water Capital Fund (416)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 1,403,758$   1,403,758$   100.0% -$                  -$                  1,403,758$   

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Revenue -$                  -$                  0.0% -$                  -$                  -$                  
Operating Revenues:
Interest Earnings 48,000          48,417          100.9% 12,417          8,052            40,365          
Miscellaneous other -                    -                    0.0% -                    -                    -                    

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 48,000          48,417          100.9% 12,417          8,052            40,365          

Total Operating Revenues 48,000          48,417          100.9% 12,417          8,052            40,365          

Other Fund Sources:
Debt Issue Proceeds -                    -                    0.0% -                    -                    -                    
Interfund Transfers in from Operating 164,300        123,225        75.0% -                    1,295,000     (1,171,775)    
Total Other Fund Sources 164,300        123,225        75.0% -                    1,295,000     (1,171,775)    

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 212,300$      171,642$      80.8% 12,417$        1,303,052$   (1,131,410)$  

Expenditures:

Other Expenditures
Capital Outlays 336,640$      73,602$        21.9% 178,878$      33,544$        40,058$        
Total Other Expenditures 336,640        73,602          21.9% 178,878        33,544          40,058          

Total Expenditures 336,640        73,602          21.9% 178,878        33,544          40,058          

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (124,340)$     98,040$        -78.8% (166,461)$     1,269,508$   (1,171,468)$  

Ending Fund Balance 1,279,418$   1,501,798$   117.4% (166,461)$     1,269,508$   232,290$      

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Storm & Surface Water Capital Fund

Page 10
83



YTD Target % * 75.0%

Airport Fund (407)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 340,200$     340,200$     100.0% -$                 1,543,750$  (1,203,550)$  

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Grants 428,170       2,921           0.7% (318,207)      -                   2,921            
Charges for Goods & Services:

Fuel sales 645,000$     605,672$     93.9% 121,922$     573,933$     31,739$        
Rents & Leases 1,445,110    1,141,554    79.0% 57,721         941,058       200,496        
Miscellaneous other 1,000           -                   0.0% (750)             -                   -                    

Total Charged for Goods & Services 2,091,110    1,747,226    83.6% 178,893       1,514,991    232,235        
Miscellaneous Revenues:

Interest Earnings 20,400         21,335         104.6% 6,035           5,929           15,406          

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 20,400         21,335         104.6% 6,035           5,929           15,406          

Total Operating Revenues 2,539,680    1,771,482    69.8% (133,279)      1,520,920    250,562        

Other Fund Sources:
Refundable Deposits 40,000         (28,981)        -72.5% (58,981)        -                   (28,981)         
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets -                   929              0.0% 929              -                   929               
Debt Proceeds (Bonds/Loans) -                   -                   0.0% -                   -                   -                    

Total Other Fund Sources 40,000         (28,052)        -70.1% (58,052)        -                   (28,052)         

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 2,579,680$  1,743,430$  67.6% (191,331)$    1,520,920$  222,510$      

Expenditures:
Wages 328,503$     235,717$     71.8% 10,660$       218,512$     17,205$        
Benefits 157,205       116,437       74.1% 1,467           109,984       6,453            
Supplies 576,794       450,416       78.1% (17,820)        507,632       (57,216)         
Services 686,051       292,536       42.6% 222,002       161,427       131,109        
Total Operating Expenditures 1,748,553    1,095,106    62.6% 216,309       997,555       97,551          

Other Expenditures:
Debt Service 73,255         66,718         91.1% (11,777)        20,473         46,245          
Interfund Loan Payment -                   -                   0.0% -                   54,135         (54,135)         
Total Other Expenditures 73,255         66,718         91.1% (11,777)        74,608         (7,890)           

Other Funding Use
Interfund Transfers out to Capital 83,800         62,850         75.0% -                   1,534,000    (1,471,150)    
Total Other Funding Use 83,800         62,850         75.0% -                   1,534,000    (1,471,150)    

Total Expenditures 1,905,608$  1,224,674$  64.3% 204,532$     2,606,163$  (1,381,489)$  

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 674,072$     518,756$     77.0% (395,863)$    (1,085,243)$ 1,603,999$   

Ending Fund Balance 1,014,272$  858,956$     84.7% (395,863)$    458,507$     400,449$      

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Airport Fund

Page 11
84



YTD Target % * 75.00%

Airport Capital Fund (417)

2023 
Amended 
Budget

YTD Actual 
9/30/2023

YTD % of 
Budget

^Variance 
YTD 

vs.Target 
Positive 

(Negative)
 YTD Actual 
09/30/2022

Incr. (Decr.) 
2022-2023

Beginning Fund Balance 1,974,125$   1,974,125$   100.0% -$                  -$                  1,974,125$   

Revenues: 
Operating Revenues:
Intergovernmental - Capital Grants -$                  -$                  0.0% -$                  790,426$      (790,426)$     
Interest Earnings 65,000          65,499          100.8% 16,749          9,293            56,206          
Total Operating Revenues 65,000          65,499          100.8% 16,749          799,719        (734,220)       

Other Fund Sources:
Debt Proceeds (Bonds/Loans) -                    -                    0.0% -                    147,163        (147,163)       
Interfund Transfers in from Operating 83,800          62,850          75.0% -                    1,534,000     (1,471,150)    
Total Other Fund Sources 83,800          62,850          75.0% -                    1,681,163     (1,618,313)    

Total Revenues & Fund Sources 148,800$      128,349$      86.3% 16,749$        2,480,882$   (2,352,533)$  

Expenditures:
Interest Earnings
Capital Outlays 210,900        119,131        56.5% 39,044          614,308        (495,177)       
Total Other Expenditures 210,900        119,131        56.5% 39,044          614,308        (495,177)       

Total Expenditures 210,900$      119,131$      56.5% 39,044$        614,308$      (495,177)$     

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (62,100)$       9,218$          -14.8% (22,295)$       1,866,574$   (1,857,356)$  

Ending Fund Balance 1,912,025$   1,983,343$   103.7% (22,295)$       1,866,574$   116,769$      

Foot Note:
* The target percentage of budget is calculated as the month of reporting (9 for September) divided by the number of months (12) in the year.
^ Variance from YTD actual vs.Target . Positive if YTD actual revenue>target amount and YTD actual expenditure<target amount. 

City of Chehalis
Comparative Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Period Ending Through September 2023 and 2022

Airport Capital Fund

Page 12
85


	7.        City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 09.25
	8.        City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 10.09
	9.      10-13-2023  Vouchers Accts Payable - Agenda Report
	10.       Agenda Report 10-23-2023 Fuel Purchase
	11.      Agenda DWSRF Loan application
	12.       Council Member Vacancy - Agenda Report
	12a.     Council Vacancy Attach - Council Dist Map 2017
	12b.    Council Vacancy - Application Attach
	13.     Fire Dept Cost Recovery - Ag Rpt
	13a.     Ordinance 1071-B - Mitigation Rates for Fire Department CMC 2.30.055 - KTN 10-10-2023
	13b    Fire Cost Recovery Contract Docs with EF Recovery
	14.       Agenda Report Arkansas Way West ROW Dedication CW DRAFT
	14a.      ORDINANCE NO - Arkansas Way West DRAFT CW
	14b.     Arkansas Way west ROW dedication legal descriptions
	15.       Agenda Report OEPB Funds
	15a.     Ordinance - LEOFF 1 OPEB Fund
	ORDINANCE NO.  1078-B
	AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, establishing a new fund, the law enforcement officers’ & firefighters’ plan 1 (leoff 1) other post-employment benefits (opeb) trust fund
	City Clerk
	City Attorney

	16.      10-25-23 Q3 2023 Finance Report - Agenda Report
	16a.    Financial Statements
	Financial Reports Cover -  3Q 2023
	Q3 2023 Financial Statements
	Q3 2023 - Citywide REB Stmt
	Q3 2023 - Citywide Summary by Fund
	Q3 2023 - Major Fund Stmt


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	ADP613F.tmp
	PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                           CONSENT CALENDAR
	PAGE
	                                           PUBLIC HEARINGS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	PAGE
	CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT)
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                NEW BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                    ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  
	PAGE




